EFFECTS OF TEMPERATURE ON THE BIODEGRADATION OF USED

LUBRICATION OIL CONTAMINATED WATER



David Osei Owusu-BSc. Environmental Science (Hons)

Dissertation submitted to the Department of Environmental Science, Kwame

Nkrumah University of Science and Technology in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Award of the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE

College of Science

BADH

October, 2015

DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this submission consists of my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge, it contains no material previously published or presented by another person or material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree elsewhere, except where due acknowledgement/references has been indicated in the text.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First and foremost, I give thanks to God Almighty who provided the life, strength, and academic enthusiasm needed to undertake this project.

My profound gratitude also goes to my parents, Rev. Thomas Osei Owusu and Mrs. Mabel Osei Owusu for their prayers, financial support and encouragement throughout my study period. I say thank you mum and dad and may God richly bless you.

My heartfelt gratitude goes to my supervisor, Dr. Bernard Fei-Baffoe, for his patience, valuable suggestions, motivation and guidance during the course of this dissertation. This study was a success because of you.

My greatest appreciation also goes to my mother, pastor and mentor, Lady Rev. Dr. Joy Bruce for her priceless words of encouragement and all her time spent to pray for me at very crucial moments of this study and to Rev. Michael Kumah for all his support and prayers.

My profound appreciation goes to Master Immoro Abubakari Zarouk, who was like a secondary supervisor to me. For all his directions and selfless efforts toward the success of this study.

I am particularly indebted to Miss Gifty Kusi-Appiah for all her efforts to ensure that this study is successful. I acknowledge your moral, spiritual, financial, emotional and physical support granted to me from the beginning of this study and through to the end.

Many thanks goes to the following people made their contribution to the success of this work by helping me in my laboratory work; Mr. Paul Osei-Fosu of Ghana Standards Authority; Mr. Douglas Amoah, Master Collins Duodu Prah, Mr. Jackson Napoleon and Miss Ohenewa Agyare all of the Faculty of Renewable Natural

Resources, KNUST and also Mr. Eric Acheampong of the Microbiology laboratory, KNUST.

I want to thank Master Anthony Ayimasu who also assisted me in the analysis of my data and for his immeasurable assistance throughout the work.

Exceptional thanks go to my colleagues especially Master Francis Duku a.k.a STANDARD who supported me in the construction and maintenance of the experimental set-up.

Last but not the least, my sincere thanks goes to my siblings (Samuel, Anna and Sarah), entire family and friends for giving me the strength to trudge on despite the challenging epochs. RAD

DEDICATION

This project dedicated to my parents, Rev. Thomas Osei Owusu and Mrs. Mabel Osei Owusu for their love and immense support towards my education up to this level. This thesis is also dedicated to my siblings Mr. Samuel Osei Owusu, Miss Anna Osei Owusu and Miss Sarah Osei Owusu for their encouragements. This thesis is also dedicated to Miss Gifty Kusi-Appiah for being there for me.



ABSTRACT

Biodegradation of hydrocarbon contaminants in water by mixed culture of hydrocarbon degrading microorganisms was investigated using a fixed bed bioreactor system. The study was performed with special emphasis on the effects of temperature on the biodegradation process. Microorganism capable of degrading hydrocarbons were isolated from oil – contaminated water and then cultured in a nutrient (mineral salt) medium. Temperature levels of 27°C, 37°C, 47°C and 57°C within the bioreactors were studied. At each temperature, sample concentration of 500 mg/L and 1000 mg/L were studied respectively for five days. Microbial population density, pH, conductivity dissolved oxygen (DO), and total petroleum hydrocarbon (TPH) were monitored to ascertain the progress of biodegradation within the bioreactors. Maximum degradation rate of 98.29 ± 0.0 % was obtained at temperature of 47° C at oil concentration of 1000 mg/L. Minimum degradation rate of 500 mg/L. The study revealed that degradation rates

generally increased as oil concentration was increased. Degradation rates also increased as temperature was increased from 27°C to 47°C but reduced when increased to 57°C.

KNUST

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONTENTS

PAGE

DECLARATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	iii
DEDICATION	iv
ABSTRACT	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	x
LIST OF PLATES	xi

CHAPTER ONE
1.1 PROBLEM STATEMENT AND JUSTIFICATION
CHAPTER TWO
2.1 HYDROCARBON CONTAMINATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECTS .7
2.3 REMEDIATION PROCESSES
2.4 BIOREMEDIATION
2.4.1 TYPES OF BIOREMEDIATION15
2.5 BIODEGRADATION OF HYDROCARBONS
2.6. MICROBIAL ECOLOGY OF HYDROCARBON BIODEGRADATION20
2.7 LIMITING FACTORS TO BIODEGRADATION OF HYDROCARBONS23
2.7.1 PHYSICAL FACTORS
2.7.2 CHEMICAL FACTORS
2.7.3 BIOLOGICAL FACTORS
2.8 EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON BIODEGRADATION
2.9 OPERATIONAL PARAMETERS
2.9.1 pH
2.9.2 DISSOLVED OXYGEN
2.9.4 CONDUCTIVITY
2.9.5 MICROBIALPOPULATION
2.10 HYDRAULIC RETENTION TIME (HRT)
CHADTED THDEE 36
CHAPTER THREE
CHAPTER THREE
CHAPTER THREE363.0 MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY363.1 DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF BIOREACTORS363.2 BIOFILM SUPPORT MATERIAL37
CHAPTER THREE363.0 MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY363.1 DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF BIOREACTORS363.2 BIOFILM SUPPORT MATERIAL373.3 EXPERIMENTAL SETUP37
CHAPTER THREE363.0 MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY363.1 DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF BIOREACTORS363.2 BIOFILM SUPPORT MATERIAL373.3 EXPERIMENTAL SETUP373.4 ISOLATING HYDROCARBON DEGRADING MICROBES38
CHAPTER THREE363.0 MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY363.1 DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF BIOREACTORS363.2 BIOFILM SUPPORT MATERIAL373.3 EXPERIMENTAL SETUP373.4 ISOLATING HYDROCARBON DEGRADING MICROBES383.5 PREPARATION OF NUTRIENT MEDIUM39
CHAPTER THREE363.0 MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY363.1 DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF BIOREACTORS363.2 BIOFILM SUPPORT MATERIAL373.3 EXPERIMENTAL SETUP373.4 ISOLATING HYDROCARBON DEGRADING MICROBES383.5 PREPARATION OF NUTRIENT MEDIUM393.6 CULTURING OF HYDROCARBON DEGRADING MICROBES39
CHAPTER THREE363.0 MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY363.1 DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF BIOREACTORS363.2 BIOFILM SUPPORT MATERIAL373.3 EXPERIMENTAL SETUP373.4 ISOLATING HYDROCARBON DEGRADING MICROBES383.5 PREPARATION OF NUTRIENT MEDIUM393.6 CULTURING OF HYDROCARBON DEGRADING MICROBES39Monitoring cell growth of the culture39
CHAPTER THREE363.0 MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY363.1 DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF BIOREACTORS363.2 BIOFILM SUPPORT MATERIAL373.3 EXPERIMENTAL SETUP373.4 ISOLATING HYDROCARBON DEGRADING MICROBES383.5 PREPARATION OF NUTRIENT MEDIUM393.6 CULTURING OF HYDROCARBON DEGRADING MICROBES39Monitoring cell growth of the culture393.7 MICROBIAL ENUMERATION39

Serial dilution40
3.8 HYDROCARBON DEGRADATION
3.8.1 Acclimatization of microbes in the bioreactor systems40
3.8.2 Studied temperature41
3.8.3 Oil concentrations41
3.8.4 Flow rate
3.8.5 Operation of the bioreactor set up41
Sampling for operational parameters42
Sampling for microbial enumeration
Sampling for extraction42
3.9 MEASURING OPERATIONAL PARAMETERS
CHAPTER FOUR
4.1 EFEECT OF TEMPERATURE ON DECRADATION AT VARIED OIL
CONCENTRATIONS
4.1.1 Effect of temperature on degradation at oil concentration 500 mg/L46
4.1.1.1 Effect of temperature on microbial population at oil concentration 500
mg/L
4.1.2 Effect of temperature on degradation at oil concentration 1000 mg/L48
4.1.2.1 Effect of temperature on microbial population at oil concentration 1000
mg/L
4.1.3.1 Effect of temperature on degradation at different oil concentrations
4.1.3.2 Effect of temperature on microbial population at different oil concentrations 50
4.4 ANALYSIS OF THE EFFECT OF pH, DISSOLVED OXYGEN (D.O) AND
CONDUCTIVITY ON DEGRADATION AND MICROBIAL POPULATION51
The state of the s
CHAPTER FIVE
5.1 EFFECTS OF TEMPERATURE ON THE DEGRADATION 54
5.2 MONITORED PARAMETERS ON DEGRADATION 56
5.2.1 nH
5.2.1 pH
5 3 Summary 50
6 0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 60
0.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

6.1 CONCLUSION	60
6.2 RECOMMENDATION	61
REFERENCES	62
APPENDICES	74
APPENDIX 1.0 TABLE OF RESULTS FOR MONITORING PARAM	ETERS 746
APPENDIX 2.0 MICROBIAL EMUMERATION RESULTS	80
APPENDIX 3.0 TABLE OF RESULTS FOR PERCENTAGE DIFEER MICROBIAL NUMBERS	ENCE IN
APPENDIX 4.0 TABLE OF RESULTS FOR THE TURBIDITY OF L CULTURES (INOCULUM)	.IQUID 83
APPENDIX 5.0 TABLE OF RESULTS TOTAL PETROLEUM HYD	ROCARBON 84
APPENDIX 6.0 ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE	85
APPENDIX 7.0 CHARTS SHOWING THE CORRELATION BETW MONITORED PARAMETERS	VEEN 90
APPENDIX 8.0 PICTURES OF THE EXPERIMENT	95
APPENDIX 9.0 GAS CHROMATOGRAPHY (GC)	
RESULTS	

LIST OF TABLES



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1: Diagram showing the bioreactor used for the study	36
Figure 3.2: Scheme showing the experimental setup	38
Figure 4.1 Degradation rates at different temperatures for oil concentration of 500 mg/L	46
Figure 4.2 Microbial population obtained at varied temperatures for oil concentrati 500 mg/L	on 47
Figure 4.3 Degradation rates at different temperatures for oil concentration of 1000 mg/L	48
Figure 4.4 Microbial population obtained at varied temperatures for oil concentrati	on 49
Figure 4.5 Degradation rates at different temperatures and oil concentrations	50

Figure 4.6 Microbial population at different temperatures and oil concentrations...... 51



LIST OF PLATES

Plate 3.1: Bamboo Chips used as immo	bilizers
--------------------------------------	----------



CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Petroleum hydrocarbons in crude oils are natural products derived from aquatic algae laid down between 180 and 85 million years ago. Crude oils, composed mostly of diverse aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbons, regularly escape into the environment from underground reservoirs (Atlas, 2011). According to Thapy *et al.* (2012), crude oil is a composite mixture of thousands of different chemical compounds.

Currently, petroleum hydrocarbons are the most abundantly used chemicals in the world. Manufactured from crude oil, petroleum hydrocarbons are found in gasoline, kerosene, fuel oil, asphalt, and even some chemicals used in home or at work (Chandra *et al.*, 2012).

There are a number of incidents in which substantial quantities of oil were accidently released into the environment instigating environmental disasters of epic proportions.

Petroleum hydrocarbon pollution of the environment may arise from oil well drilling production operations, transportation and storage in the upstream industry, refining, transportation and marketing in the downstream industry (Margesin *et al.*, 1999). Xu (2012), is of the view that areas of contaminated soil have increased rapidly in recent years due to the continuous growth and development of the oil industry. Meanwhile, the level of contamination becomes severe as time elapses. These contaminants cannot be easily eliminated and eventually these contaminants will leach into the groundwater systems. Consequently, oil contamination is a serious environmental problem to our living ecosystem (Xu, 2012).

Thapa *et al.* (2012), suggested that remediation of the contaminated soil can be done in many ways which include both physic-chemical and biological methods.

A range of techniques have been successfully used to cleanup soil and groundwater contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbons, comprising pump and treat of groundwater, excavation of shallow contaminated soils, and vapour extraction. Many of these approaches, are however very costly or not fully efficient and are unable to entirely remove the contaminants. Chandra *et al.* (2012), argues that biological treatment however has emerged as one of the most promising methods of removal of petroleum hydrocarbon contaminants. It was first used to counter the Exxon Valdez oil spills and showed remarkable results and has since been developed as a major tool to remove the contaminants ever since. Biological methods are more economical and efficient than chemical and physical ones (Thapy *et al.*, 2012).

Rahman *et al.* (2002), described bioremediation as the conversion of chemical compounds by living organisms, especially microorganisms, into energy, cell mass and biological waste products. The rates of uptake and mineralization of many organic compounds by a microbial population depends on the concentration of the compound. Biodegradation is the metabolic ability of microorganisms to transmogrify or mineralize organic contaminants into less harmful, non-hazardous substances, which are then assimilated into natural biogeochemical cycles. Boopathy (2000), iterates that primary metabolism of an organic compound has been defined as the use of the substrate as a source of carbon and energy. This substrate serves as an electron donor resulting in microbial growth.

Thapa *et al.* (2012), gave examples of bacteria that can degrade petroleum products as-*Pseudomonas, Aeromonas, Moraxella, Beijerinckia, Flavobacteria, chrobacteria, Nocardia, Corynebacteria, Atinetobacter, Mycobactena, Modococci, Streptomyces, Bacilli, Arthrobacter, Cyanobacteria,* etc.

Microbial biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbon in the environment is said to be comparatively slow because it is influenced by a number of factors which include the population of hydrocarbon (Ekpo and Udofia, 2008).

Atlas (1981), suggested that factors which influence rates of microbial growth and enzymatic activities affect the rates of petroleum hydrocarbon biodegradation. The intensity of biodegradation is influenced by several factors, such as nutrients, oxygen, pH, composition, concentration and bioavailability of the contaminants, chemical and physical characteristics and the pollution history of the contaminated environment (Margesin *et al.*, 1999).

Temperature plays very important roles in biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbons, firstly by its direct effect on the chemistry of the pollutants, and secondly on its effect on the physiology and diversity of the microbial milieu (Chukwuma *et al.*, 2012).

Bossert and Bartha (1984), in Chukwuma *et al.* (2012), observed that the highest degradation rates generally occur in the range of 30 °C– 40 °C in soil environments, 20 °C– 30 °C in some freshwater environments, and 15 °C– 20 °C in marine environments.

According to Atlas (1981), at low temperatures, the viscosity of the oil increases, while the volatility of toxic low-molecular-weight hydrocarbons is reduced, delaying the onset of biodegradation. A temperature increase affects a decrease in viscosity and vice versa, thereby affecting the degree of distribution, and an increase or decrease in diffusion rates of organic compounds. Therefore, higher reaction rates due to smaller boundary layers are expected at elevated temperatures.

Bioavailability and solubility of less soluble hydrophobic substances, such as aliphatic and polyaromatic hydrocarbons, are temperature dependent (Margesin *et al.*, 1999). Although hydrocarbon biodegradation can occur over a wide range of temperatures, the rate of biodegradation commonly decreases with decreasing temperature (Atlas, 1981).

1.1 PROBLEM STATEMENT AND JUSTIFICATION

Petroleum hydrocarbon continues to be used as the principal source of energy. Wide scale production, transport, use and disposal of petroleum globally have made it a major contaminant in both prevalence and quantity in the environment (Rahman *et al.*, 2002).

The offshore extraction of crude oil from the oceanic zone within the territorial boundaries poses serious risk of crude oil contamination of Ghana seas. A single major accidental spill or ruptured oil pipelines can be very disastrous. Also, the influx of motor vehicles into the country has undoubtedly increased consumption of crude oil refined products in the country. This has increased the sprain up of several fuel service station in the country, subsequently there is an increase in the rate of its distribution to various locations within the country. Spillages caused by accidents that involve these fuel distribution tankers releases large quantities of fuel which are either absorbed into the soil or washed by runoffs into nearby water bodies (Allen *et al.*, 2010). Also, leakages

may occur during storage at these fuel stations which can percolate and contaminate immediate phreatic waters.

Moreover, all these vehicles are expected to regularly change their engine oils for efficiency and this normally is done at the fitting shops and sometimes at the fuel service stations. The replaced oils are improperly disposed and thereby end up polluting the soil and water bodies. Oils are also spilled in small quantities during operations, servicing, washing especially the engine parts of the vehicles. These eventually add up to the polluting effects of crude oil and its products (Dvirka and Bartilucci, 2007).

Apart from vehicles, other heavy duty equipment also uses lubricants and other hydraulic oil in their operations. Most of these oils end up contaminating the soil and water bodies when changed or through spillages in small quantities.

This study seeks to investigate how different temperature ranges affect biodegradation on bioremediation processes of crude oil in water.

1.2 OBJECTIVES

The main objective of the study is to investigate the effect of temperature on the rate of biological degradation of lubricating oil.

ANE

1.3 SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES

• To construct a bioreactor, isolate and culture microorganisms for the biodegradation.

- To determine the effects of temperature (27°C, 37°C, 47°C, 57°C) on biodegradation of used lubricating oil contaminated water at different concentrations.
- To monitor the biodegradation process by measuring some selected physicochemical and biological parameters.

CHAPTER TWO

SANE

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 HYDROCARBON CONTAMINATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL

EFFECTS

Contamination is the introduction of unwanted or undesirable substances into the environment. Materials responsible for contamination are known as contaminants or xenobiotics. A broader definition of xenobiotics includes 'all compounds that are released in any compartment of the environment by the action of man and thereby occur in a concentration that is higher than natural (Top and Springael, 2003).

This larger group also includes heavy metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), and oil derivatives such as toluene. Strictly speaking, mineral oil hydrocarbons are not xenobiotic, but their large scale use and various applications lead in many cases to environmental contamination. The behavior of pollutants in the environment is influenced primarily by the nature and amount of the contaminant present and the interplay among chemical, geochemical, and biological factors

(Bordenave et al., 2007).

Petroleum hydrocarbon continues to be used as the principal source of energy. Wide scale production, transport, use and disposal of petroleum globally have made it a major contaminant in both prevalence and quantity in the environment (Rahman *et al.*, 2002). Margesin *et al.* (2001) iterates that mineral oil hydrocarbons are the most frequently occurring environmental contaminants. The most noticeable sources of contamination are releases from manufacturing and refining installations, oil-tanker spills and accidents during transportation of the oil. Crude oils are transported long distance either on land pipeline or on water in tankers and both of which are prone to oil spill and accidents (Thapa *et al.*, 2012).

Dibble and Bartha (1979), reported that accidental releases of petroleum products from pipelines and fuel-oil storage tanks are among the most common causes of groundwater contamination. Petroleum hydrocarbons contain benzene, toluene, ethyl benzene, and xylene isomers (BTEX), the major components of fuel oils (especially gasoline), which are hazardous substances regulated by many nations. Das and Mukherjee (2006), is of the view that apart from accidental contamination of ecosystem, the vast amounts of oil sludge's generated in refineries from water oil separation systems and accumulation of waste oily materials in crude oil storage tank's bottoms pose severe problem because many of the standard treatment processes used to decontaminate soil and groundwater have been limited in their application, are prohibitively expensive, or may be only partially effective.

Petroleum refining unavoidably generates considerable volumes of oil sludge. Common sources of this sludge are storage tank bottoms, oil-water separators, flotation and biological wastewater treatment units, cleaning of processing equipment, and soil from occasional minor spills on refinery grounds (Dibble and Bartha, 1979).

Kostka *et al.* (2011), reported that the blowout of the Deep-water Horizon (DH) drilling rig resulted in the world's largest accidental release of oil into the ocean in recorded history. The equivalent volume of approximately 4.9 million barrels of light crude oil were discharge into the Gulf of Mexico from April to July 2010 (OSAT/

NOAA report and oil budget calculator (2010)), and the total hydrocarbon discharge was 40% higher if gaseous hydrocarbons are included. Petroleum contamination of the subsurface from accidental oil spills or leaking underground storage tanks remains a

significant environmental problem. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency reports a backlog of about 117,000 leaking underground storage tanks (Allen *et al.*, 2007).

Oil pollution accidents are nowadays become a common phenomenon and have caused ecological and social catastrophes (Ghazali *et al.*, 2004). Analysis of the crude oil waste revealed at least two important types of environmental contamination, hydrocarbons and heavy metals and that they should be taken into account in the design of an appropriate treatment sequence before the final disposal of the waste

(Capelli, 2001).

Thapy *et al.* (2012), reported that soil contaminated with petroleum has a serious hazard to human health, causes organic pollution of ground water which limits its use, causes economic loss, environmental problems, and decreases the agricultural productivity of the soil. Many pollution problems resulting from releasing aromatic chemicals occur in rivers, lakes, ground waters, and process effluents of the industrialized world the bioremediation of various contaminated areas (Shourian *et al.*, 2009).

Hohener *et al.* (2003), argues that due to the widespread use of fuels, fuel components such as petroleum hydrocarbons and methyl tert-butyl ether (MTBE) are among the most frequent groundwater contaminants. Accidental release of fuel to the subsurface results in residual pools retained in the unsaturated zone. Gaseous transport of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) through the unsaturated zone has been identified as a serious threat for groundwater quality. VOC vapors may also volatilize into the atmosphere, thereby creating a potential health threat to individuals living in the vicinity of emission sources (Hohener *et al.*, 2003).

2.2 HYDROCARBONS AND THEIR CONSTITUENTS

Complex petroleum hydrocarbon mixtures, including crude oil, diesel fuel, and creosote, consist of various concentrations of n- and branched alkanes, cycloalkanes, phenolics, aromatics, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (Hamamura *et al.*,2006). Diesel oil contains 2000 to 4000 hydrocarbons, a complex mixture of normal, branched and cyclic alkanes, and aromatic compounds obtained from the middledistillate fraction during petroleum separation (Mariano *et al.*, 2008).

Several reporters have defined petroleum in different sense but generally concluding with four main constituents of petroleum. Andrade *et al.* (2012), defines petroleum as a complex mixture of saturated and aromatic hydrocarbons, polar compounds, resins and asphaltenes whiles Atlas (1981), explained petroleum as a complex mixture of hydrocarbons and other organic compounds, including some organometallic constituents, most notably complex vanadium.

Sugiura *et al.* (1997) in Capelli (2001), and Keijisugiura *et al.* (1997), reported that petroleum contains hundreds of individual compounds, and its components are generally grouped into four classes according to their differential solubility in organic solvents: the saturates (n- and branched-chain alkanes and cycloparaffins), the aromatics (mono-, di and polynuclear aromatic compounds containing alkyl side chains and/or fused cycloparaffin rings), the resins (aggregates with a multitude of building blocks such as pyridines, quinolines, carbazoles, thiophenes, sulfoxides, and amides),

and the asphaltenes (aggregates of extended polyaromatics, naphthenic acids, sulfides, polyhydric phenols, fatty acids, and metalloporphyrins).

The composition of the crude oil can differ depending on its geological origin, and it can even vary within different zones of the same geological formation (OTA, 1991). This implies petroleum recovered from different reservoirs varies widely in compositional and physical properties. According to Capelli (2001), most of the crude oil range is in its relative composition from 33 % to 50 % of saturated hydrocarbons, 27 % to 39 % of aromatics, 2 % to 19 % of asphaltenes and < 2 % of resins. Saturates are proportionally the most significant fraction by mass while the most toxic and persistent compounds are the polar and aromatic hydrocarbons (Andrade *et al.*, 2012). Aromatics are the second most abundant hydrocarbons in crude oil. Benzene, naphthalene, and phenanthrene and their alkyl substituted derivatives represent typical aromatics (Capelli, 2001).

2.3 REMEDIATION PROCESSES

Remediation can be considered to be the reclamation or detoxification of areas polluted/ contaminated with undesirable substances. Remediation of areas contaminated by crude petroleum oil is difficult because of the complex nature of constituent hydrocarbons. There are numerous challenges to determine the ecological risk of hydrocarbon contamination at waste sites with cleanup decisions averaging

\$25 million for each site (Dorn and Salanitro, 2000). Given that it is often not possible to locate and remove the residual BTEX, remediation must focus on preventing further migration of the dissolved contamination (Kao *et al.*, 2008).

Hydrocarbons released into the environment are subject to biotic and abiotic weathering reactions in the soil and water media. These processes act together, with the rate of transformation being related to the chemical composition of the fuel and local environmental factors, including temperature, soil moisture and nutrient and oxygen contents (Mariano *et al.*, 2008). Abiotic weathering or remediation method comprises of both physical and chemical technologies to clean the contaminated environment. According to Mariano *et al.* (2008), major abiotic reactions include hydrolysis, dehydrogenation, oxidation and polymerization and Margesin and Schinner (2001), also reported that physical and chemical processes, such as dispersion, dilution, sorption, volatilization and abiotic transformations are also important in remediation. Recently, Zekri and Chaalal (2005) suggested utilizing insitu burning as the primary means of response in the event of a major oil spill but Weidemeier *et al.* (1996), argues that of all these processes, biodegradation is the only mechanism working to transform contaminants into innocuous byproducts.

This has been supported by numerous researchers in this field and most scientists have opted for this method of remediation because of its several advantages over both the physical and chemical processes. Rahman *et al.* (2002) reported that biological methods can have an edge over the physico-chemical treatment regimes in removing spills as they offer in situ biodegradation of oil fractions by the microorganisms.

Hamme *et al.* (2003), iterate that compared to physico-chemical methods, bioremediation offers an effective technology for the treatment of oil pollution because the majority of molecules in the crude oil and refined products are biodegradable and oil-degrading microorganisms are ubiquitous. Dojka *et al.* (1998) also examined that

the biological breakdown of hydrocarbons is particularly beneficial, because it ultimately converts hydrocarbons to carbon dioxide, water, and methane, rather than simply repartitioning the hydrocarbons.

Biodegradation is most often the primary mechanism for contaminant destruction. The most widely used bioremediation procedure is biostimulation of the indigenous microorganisms by addition of nutrients (Margesin and Schinner, 2001). "Intrinsic remediation" refers to a management strategy that relies on natural attenuation mechanisms to remediate contaminants and this occurs when indigenous microorganisms work to bring about a reduction in the total mass of contamination in the subsurface without the addition of nutrients (Weidemeier *et al.*, 1996).

2.4 **BIOREMEDIATION**

Bioremediation as defined by Thapa *et al.* (2012), is the productive use of biodegradative processes to remove or detoxify pollutants that have found their way into the environment and threaten public health, usually as contaminants of soil, water, or sediments. Rahman *et al.* (2002) also described it as the conversion of chemical compounds by living organisms, especially microorganisms, into energy, cell mass and biological waste products.

Bioremediation treatments are aimed at stimulating pollutant-degrading microorganisms to speed the recovery of contaminated ecosystem to a pre pollution state in terms of biodiversity and ecosystem function (Roling *et al.*, 2002). These techniques accelerate the naturally occurring biodegradation by optimizing conditions for biodegradation through aeration, addition of nutrients and control of pH and

13

temperature (Margesin *et al.*, 2001). The intrinsic susceptibility of the waste to a bioremediation process became an important factor for the selection of the treatment technology (Capelli, 2001).

Bioremediation is suggested for treating contaminated soil sites because of its low cost and ability to convert contaminants to harmless products (Rahman *et al.*, 2002). Both in situ and on-site treatment processes by involving the use of microorganisms to break down hazardous organic environmental contaminants will help to avoid the economic and technical disadvantages (Das and Mukherjee, 2006). It is an alternative technology capable of achieving permanent remediation at waste sites without such associated problems, as recognized by the US EPA for implementation under the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act (SARA) of 1986 (Gogoia *et al.*, 2003). Acceptance by the general public is another major advantage of this technology.

Hamme *et al.* (2003), reported that heavy crude oil recovery, facilitated by microorganisms, was suggested in the 1920s and received growing interest in the 1980s as microbial enhanced oil recovery. As of 1998, only one productive microbial enhanced oil recovery project was being carried out in the United States.

According to Gogoia *et al.* (2003), the success of bioremediation (i.e. TPH removal) depends largely on the contaminant characteristics. In biological treatments it is always necessary to perform laboratory feasibility tests to determine the microbial potential to degrade the pollutants and to evaluate strategies to optimize the degradation rates before the design of real scale in-situ or ex-situ (bioreactors, land farming and others) treatments (Mariano *et al.*,2008).

Röling *et al.* (2004), suggested that restoration of the bacterial community structure to a state similar to that present prior to pollution could be used as a parameter for determination of the ecological end point of bioremediation. Kaplan and Kitts (2004) suggested that three types of bioremediation are predominant in the industry today: natural attenuation, biostimulation, and bioaugmentation.

2.4.1 TYPES OF BIOREMEDIATION

Natural attenuation

The simplest method of bioremediation to implement is natural attenuation, where contaminated sites are only monitored for contaminant concentration to assure regulators that natural processes of contaminant degradation are active (Kaplan and Kitts, 2004). Weidemeier *et al.* (1996), describe natural attenuation as the actual physical, chemical, and biological processes that facilitate intrinsic remediation. Mechanisms for natural attenuation of fuel hydrocarbons include advection, dispersion, dilution from recharge, sorption, volatilization and biologradation.

Dojka *et al.* (1998), reported that since 1995, natural attenuation has been the most common treatment for contaminated groundwater and the second most common treatment for contaminated soil at these sites. About 17,000 contaminated groundwater sites (47 % of active sites) and 29,000 contaminated soil sites (28 % of active sites) are being remediated through natural attenuation.

Biostimulation

Biostimulation is the process of providing bacterial communities with a favorable environment in which they can effectively degrade contaminants (Kaplan and Kitts 2004). It consists of adding nutrients and other substances to soil to catalyze natural attenuation processes. Several studies of the effects of biostimulation with mainly NP-K or oleophilic fertilizers have reported positive effects on oil decontamination. According to Kasai *et al.* (2002), application of fertilizers promotes the growth of oildegrading bacteria and hence the rate of biodegradation of crude oil. Biostimulation uses indigenous microbial populations to remediate contaminated soils (Rikea *et al.*, 2003).

Bioaugmentation

In cases where natural communities of degrading bacteria are at low levels or not present, the addition of contaminant-degrading organisms, known as

bioaugmentation, can speed up the process. Although significant research is being performed in this area, bioaugmentation is generally not practiced, since introduced bacteria usually cannot compete with well-adapted autochthonous bacterial communities (Kaplan and Kitts, 2004) but Whyte *et al.*(1998), argued that bioaugmentation of contaminated sites at cold temperatures are becoming a particularly viable in situ bioremediation strategy for such sites because the short summer seasons do not permit long acclimatization periods for hydrocarbondegradative populations.

Hamme *et al.* (2003), reported that the Exxon Valdez bioremediation experience, in particular, has been viewed by many as a general rule that bioaugmentation is ineffective in petroleum and other biodegradation processes and Macnaughton *et al.*

(1999), suggested that for bioaugmentation to be a viable bioremediation technology, the inoculum size should be at least equal to if not greater than the indigenous population after inoculation.

2.5 BIODEGRADATION OF HYDROCARBONS

Accidental spillage of petroleum often provokes serious damage to the natural environment, and the microbial degradation of spilled oil is one major route in the natural decontamination process (Keijisugiura *et al.*, 1997). Studies on the ability of microorganisms to degrade hydrocarbons of various structures which exist in crude oil started in the mid 1960's (Zekri and Chaalal, 2005).

Among biological factors, the diversity of microbial species and their metabolic capabilities constitute an important source of biocatalysis (Bordenave *et al.*, 2007). The biodegradation of hydrocarbons results in the production of bacterial metabolites, including organic acids and CO_2 (Allen *et al.*, 2007).

According to Walker and Colwell (1974), the success of biodegradation depends on the predominant environmental conditions, on the chemical structure of the pollutants, on the bioavailability of the contaminating compounds, and thus on the interaction between pollutant, soil matrix and microorganisms. Ramos *et al.* (1991), in Das and Mukherjee, (2006), reported that survival of microorganisms in petroleum hydrocarbons medium after spillage or contamination is a key deciding factor in the rate of biodegradation of hydrocarbons either in soil or in liquid phase. Rarely, contamination occurs suddenly (e.g. by tanker accidents or explosions), but more often creeping contamination occurs (pipeline or storage tank leakages) (Walker and

Colwell, 1974).

Some types of microorganism are able to degrade petroleum hydrocarbons and use them as source of carbon and energy. The specificity of the degradation process is related to the genetic potential of the particular microorganism to introduce molecular oxygen into hydrocarbon and to generate the intermediates that subsequently enter the general energy- yielding metabolic pathway of the cell. Some bacteria are mobile and exhibit a chemotactic response, sensing the contaminant and moving toward it, while other microbes like fungi grow in a filamentous form near the contaminant (Thapa *et al.*, 2012).

Das and Mukherjee (2006) observed that the bioavailability of a particular compound in a crude oil sample and not its chemical structure may be a sole determining factor for effective biodegradation of the compound. As hydrocarbons are mostly insoluble in water, bacterial cultures producing biosurfactant will be useful in solubilizing or emulsifying hydrocarbons leading to desorption and thereby enhancing biodegradation rate (Gogoia *et al.*, 2003).

Biotic weathering of a hydrocarbon fuel consists of two interdependent mechanisms: microbial uptake and metabolic degradation. These transformations are likely to occur stepwise, producing alcohols, phenols, aldehydes and carboxylic acids in sequence (Mariano *et al.*, 2008). Gogoia *et al.* (2003) observed that microorganisms are selective and attack specific hydrocarbons rather than all the components of the oily waste. It has been observed that the same compounds in different crude oil samples were degraded to different extents by the same organisms (Das and Mukherjee, 2006). Leahy and Colwell (1990), in Thapa *et al.* (2012), stated that the saturated hydrocarbons are in

general the most readily biodegraded component of a hydrocarbon mixture and that more than 60 % of the hydrocarbons present in the waste belong to this type. Rahman *et al.* (2002) argued that saturated compounds having a molecular weight larger than 500 may not be degraded by the organisms, since this size corresponds to the exclusion size for passage through the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria.

Ghazali *et al.* (2004) reported in their study that higher levels of hydrocarbon removal were seen with the medium chain alkanes compared to the longer chain alkanes. This is in agreement since short- and medium-chain alkanes are generally more easily degraded due to their lower hydrophobicity similarly the mineralization data of Whyte *et al.* (1998), suggested that microbes degrade shorter- chain alkanes (C12 and C16) more readily than the longer chain alkanes (C28 and C32), which is a common feature of many other alkane-degradative microorganisms.

2.6. MICROBIAL ECOLOGY OF HYDROCARBON BIODEGRADATION

Relatively little is known regarding the environmental determinants of microbial population selection in environments contaminated with complex hydrocarbon mixtures. The predominant factors influencing microbial community structure after contamination likely include; contaminant mixture type, physical, chemical, and biological conditions, time (Hamamura *et al.*, 2006). In general, the quantity and diversity of hydrocarbon-degrading microorganisms depends on the level and persistence of the hydrocarbons in the ecosystem (OTA, 1991).

Micro-organisms utilizing hydrocarbons as a source of energy and carbon are ubiquitous in nature (Lee *et al.*, 2005). According to Macnaughton *et al.* (1999), microbial communities within contaminated ecosystems tend to be dominated by those organisms capable of utilizing and/or surviving toxic contamination. As a result, these communities are typically less diverse than those in non-stressed systems, although the diversity may be influenced by the complexity of chemical mixtures present and the length of time the populations have been exposed. The relationship between community structure and degradation appears to be complex since communities with similar structures showed different rates of degradation, while communities with different structures showed similar degrees of degradation (Röling *et al.*, 2004).

Top and Springael (2003), reported that there are several mechanisms or combinations which microbial communities can adapt to the presence of xenobiotics petroleum hydrocarbons in their environment. Firstly, there can be an increase in population size of those organisms that tolerate or even degrade the compound by induction of appropriate genes. Secondly, the cells can adapt through mutations of various kinds, such as single nucleotide changes or DNA rearrangements that result in resistance to or degradation of the compound. Thirdly, they may acquire genetic information from either related or phylogenetically distinct populations in the community by horizontal gene transfer (HGT), also called 'lateral gene transfer'. Eventually, the individual cells best suited to resist or degrade the xenobiotic will be selected and sweep through the population until they constitute a larger fraction of the total microbial community than before the presence of the xenobiotic.

Biodegradation of complex hydrocarbon usually requires the cooperation of more than a single species. This is particularly true in pollutants that are made up of many different compounds such as crude oil or petroleum and complete mineralization to CO₂ and H₂O is desired (Ghazali *et al.*,2004).

20

Ghazali *et al.* (2004), reported that the advantages of employing mixed cultures as opposed to pure cultures in bioremediation have been widely demonstrated. It could be attributed to the effects of synergistic interactions among members of the association.

Walker and Colwell (1974), iterated that, a single bacterium usually has only a relatively small degradation range and thus not all fractions of the mineral oil hydrocarbon can be degraded by a single species. Microbial populations that consist of strains that belong to various genera have been detected in petroleum-contaminated soil or water. This strongly suggests that each strain or genera have their roles in the hydrocarbon transformation processes (Ghazali *et al.*, 2004). According to Rahman *et al.* (2002), their experimental results clearly showed that the mixed bacterial consortium could carry out a maximum of 78% of degradation after 20 days

incubation.

Several researchers/workers have reported on the different species of microorganisms capable of degrading hydrocarbon compounds. In their review, Bartha and Atlas (1977), in Atlas (1981), listed 22 genera of bacteria, 1 algal genus, and 14 genera of fungi which had been demonstrated to contain members which utilize petroleum hydrocarbons. ZoBell (1946), in Atlas (1981), noted that more than 100 species representing 30 microbial genera had been shown to be capable of utilizing hydrocarbons.

Atlas (1981), also reported that the most important (based on frequency of isolation) genera of hydrocarbon utilizers in aquatic environments were *Pseudomonas*,
Achromobacter, Arthrobacter, Micrococcus, Nocardia, Vibrio, Acinetobacter,
Brevibacterium, Corynebacterium, Flavobacterium, Candida, Rhodotorula, and

WOSANE

Sporobolomyces. Bacteria and yeasts appear to be the prevalent hydrocarbon degraders in aquatic ecosystems. In polluted freshwater ecosystems, bacteria, yeasts, and filamentous fungi and algae all appear to be important hydrocarbon degraders (Hamme *et al.*, 2003).

Kasai *et al.* (2002), noted that one group of bacteria capable of degrading aromatics in a marine environment is the members of the genus *Cycloclasticus*. Alonso-Gutierrez *et al.* (2009), analysis showed that *Actinobacteria*, mainly *Rhodococcus*species, was the key alkane-degrading group of bacteria in fresh waters and Kasai *et al.* (2002), identified *Alcanivorax* as the bacterium that was mainly responsible for the degradation of alkanes in an oil-contaminated marine environment.

Strains of microorganisms are selective in their degradation of hydrocarbon compounds or show preference or partiality in their consumption of petroleum hydrocarbon constituents.

2.7 LIMITING FACTORS TO BIODEGRADATION OF HYDROCARBONS

Factors which influence rates of microbial growth and enzymatic activities affect the rates of petroleum hydrocarbon biodegradation (Atlas, 1981). Taking into account the fact that each contaminated site can respond in a different way to distinct parameters that affect microbial biodegradation, laboratory-scale bioremediation protocols have been developed in order to determine the effects of different conditions (Vin[°]as *et al.*, 2005).

Hamme *et al.* (2003), found that the rate of microbial degradation of crude oil or oil waste depends on a variety of factors, including the physical conditions and the nature, concentration, and ratios of various structural classes of hydrocarbons present, the bioavailability of the substrate, and the properties of the biological system involved. Kostka *et al.* (2011), reported that the in situ metabolism of oil-degrading bacteria is likely to be limited by a number of environmental parameters, including temperature, the availability of oxygen and major nutrients, oil hydrocarbon content, and weathering or dispersal of the oil. Various researchers have examined different parameters during hydrocarbon biodegradation experiments at different conditions.

These factors or parameters are generally grouped into three; physical, chemical and biological factors.

2.7.1 PHYSICAL FACTORS

Area: Availability of increased surface area should accelerate biodegradation. Not only is the oil made more readily available to microorganisms, but movement of emulsion droplets through a water column makes oxygen and nutrients more readily available to microorganisms (Atlas, 1981).

Atlas (1981), found that the degree of spreading determines in part the surface area of oil available for microbial colonization by hydrocarbon-degrading microorganisms; in aquatic systems, the oil normally spreads, forming a thin slick. The degree of spreading is reduced at low temperatures because of the viscosity of the oil and Shourian *et al.* (2009), showed that the biodegradation rate of phenol can be improved by immobilizing the cells and entrapping them on the solid-based biomaterial such as alginate, polyacrylamide and so on to obtain the maximum degradation capability.

Immobilization is considered to promote better survival and activity of the introduced organisms (Kastner *et al.*, 1998).

Lee *et al.* (2005) also reported that when the surface area becomes limiting, biomass increases arithmetically rather than exponentially.

Solubility: Solubility may be another factor to influence biodegradability. Its known that the solubility, and hence the accessibility to catabolic enzymes, of a hydrocarbon molecule decreases as the number of its carbon atoms increases (Keijisugiura *et al.,*

1997).

Lee *et al.* (2005) reported that low solubility of hydrocarbons and adsorption of high molecular weight hydrocarbons limits their availability to microorganisms.

The low water solubility of the majority of petroleum hydrocarbon compounds have the potential to limit the capacity of microbes, which generally exist in aqueous phases, to access and degrade these substrates (Hamme *et al.*, 2003).

Physical state of hydrocarbons: Some components in crude oils spilled are without difficulty degraded; others are more gradually and/or less entirely degraded; and some compounds are totally non-biodegradable (recalcitrant) (Lee and Merlin, 1999). The greater the intricacy of the hydrocarbon formation (i.e. the higher number of alkylbranched substituents or condensed aromatic rings), the slower the rates of degradation and the greater the likelihood of accumulating partially oxidized intermediary metabolites.

These factors, as well as others such as volatility, set the practical operational limits for the appliance of bioremediation strategies. There is benefit to bioremediate a spill of light hydrocarbons such as gasoline, since it would evaporate rapidly (Lee and Merlin, 1999).

2.7.2 CHEMICAL FACTORS

Concentration: Crude oil degradation is inversely proportional to the concentration of oil (Rahman *et al.*, 2002). Pfaender and Bartholomew (1982), showed the rates of uptake and mineralization of many organic compounds by microbial populations in the aquatic environment are proportional to the concentration of the compound, generally conforming to Michaelis-Menten kinetics.

Rahman *et al.* (2002) reported that high concentrations of hydrocarbons can be associated with heavy, undispersed oil slicks in water, causing inhibition of biodegradation by nutrient or oxygen limitation or through toxic effects exerted by volatile hydrocarbons. Fusey *et al.* (1984) reported that contamination of seashore sediments with crude oil above a threshold concentration prevented biodegradation of the oil because of oxygen and/or nutrient limitation.

The effects of crude oil concentrations on the growth of individual bacterial cultures and the mixed bacterial consortium, and crude oil degradation, were tested by Rahman *et al.*(2002) and they found that at 2.5 % BH crude oil, the mixed bacterial consortium showed 70 % degradation followed by 67 % at 5 %, 63 % at 7.5 % and 52 % at 10 %.

Oxygen: Aerobic situations are essential for microbial oxidation of hydrocarbons in petroleum contaminated or polluted environment. Conditions of oxygen constraints normally do not subsist in the upper levels of the water column in marine and freshwater environments (Cooney *et al.*, 1985).

In oil-contaminated soils it is well known that O₂ supply often limits biodegradation, although it is known that even low O₂ levels are able to sustain aerobic respiration (Rikea*et al.*, 2003). Kao *et al.* (2008), reported that BTEX are biodegradable under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Nevertheless, rates of BTEX biodegradation under aerobic conditions are higher than those under anaerobic conditions.

Hydrogen ion concentration (pH): Biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbons is most favorable at a pH 7 (neutral), the suitable range is pH 6 - 8 (US EPA, 2006).

Low and high pH levels create acidic and alkaline conditions respectively in the aqueous medium and thereby impacts negatively on microbial populations. Rate of biodegradation is reduced at these extreme conditions.

Shourian *et al.* (2009), reported that the rate of phenol degradation was affected by initial

pH of culture medium. At pH 5 and 8.5 phenol degradation was inhibited and the cell growth was significantly retarded. These pH values created unfavorable growth conditions for the bacterial population.

2.7.3 BIOLOGICAL FACTORS

Biosurfactants: An important factor that affects microbial degradation is the hydrophobicity of diesel oil which limits its transfer to the cell surfaces of microorganisms. This limitation may be overcome by growing surfactant-producing microorganisms. This in turn results in the increased bioavailability of diesel oil to microorganisms (Lee *et al.*, 2005). Micro-organisms growing on petroleum usually produce potent emulsifiers and these surfactants help to degrade petroleum (Rosenberg, 1993).
Ron and Rosenberg (2002), in Basu (2005), found that biosurfactants are more effective than chemical surfactants in increasing the bioavailability of hydrophobic compounds and they are selective, environmentally friendly and generally less stable than most synthetic surfactants so easily degradable after bioremediation.

Hamme *et al.* (2003), reported that the low-molecular-weight biosurfactants (glycolipids, lipopeptides) are more effective in lowering the interfacial and surface tensions, whereas the high-molecular -weight biosurfactants (amphipathic polysaccharides, proteins, lipopolysaccharides and lipoproteins) are effective stabilizers of oil-in-water emulsions.

There are at least two ways in which biosurfactants are involved in bioremediation: increasing the surface area of hydrophobic water-insoluble substrates and increasing the bioavailability of hydrophobic compounds (Lee *et al.*, 2005).

Bioattachment: Microorganisms which are vigorous bio-oxidizers are normally attached to some substrate rather than in free aqueous phase. They are usually attached to sludge and soil particles where they form colonies. In some cases they simply attach to each other establishing biological floc. Soluble contaminants which persist in the aqueous phase are in contact with the microbes for instant destruction. At the same time, less soluble organics are adsorbed to soil particles. Adsorbed organics are accessible for intimate contact when colonizing microbes settle into form surface films over the solid particle.

Nutrient: The principal nutrients essential for biosynthesis and cell development of microbes concerned with bioremediation processes are carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus (C, N, and P). Hutchinson *et al.* (1994), reported that contaminant

degradation have shown that usual indigenous microbes have the potential to degrade HC contaminants more speedily when supplemented with nutrients in the form of fertilizers.

Roling *et al.* (2002), reported that because of the high carbon content of oil and the low level of other nutrients essential for microbial growth, the rate and extent of degradation are, in general, limited by the low availability of nitrogen and phosphorus and Hamme *et al.* (2003), demonstrated that nitrogen and phosphorus contents to a great extent affect the microbial degradation of hydrocarbons.

2.8 EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON BIODEGRADATION

The biodegradability of a variety of crude oils is highly dependent on crude oil composition and temperature (Atlas, 1975). Degrading micro-organisms are particularly active in phases of temperature increase in the system (Popp *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, increasing temperature increases and accelerates the growth of bacteria that resulted in increasing the degradation process of the crude oil (Zekri and Chaalal, 2005). Many studies have been done to investigate the influence of temperature on biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbons and similar results were found.

Venosa and Zhu (2003), also reported that temperature plays very vital roles in biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbons, initially by its direct effect on the chemistry of the pollutants, and secondly on its effect on the composition and diversity of the microbial milieu. Ambient temperature of an environment affects both the properties of spilled oil and the enzymatic activity or population of microorganisms. Rahman *et al.* (2002), found that temperature influences petroleum biodegradation by its effect on the physico-chemical properties of the oil, rate of hydrocarbon metabolism by microorganisms and composition of the microbial community.

In another study Margesin and Schinner (2001), stated that field temperatures play a significant role in controlling the nature and extent of hydrocarbon metabolism. During winter, spring, and fall, temperature was a major limiting factor. Dibble and Bartha (1979), found that the rates of disappearance of hydrocarbons from an oilcontaminated field in New Jersey showed a definite correlation with mean monthly temperature.

Atlas and Bartha (1972), in Atlas (1981), suggested that the effects of temperature differ, depending on the hydrocarbon composition of a petroleum mixture. The effects of temperature are interactive with other factors, such as the quality of the hydrocarbon mixture and the composition of the microbial community. Hydrocarbon biodegradation can occur at the low temperatures (< 5°C) that characterize most of the ecosystems which are likely to be contaminated by oil spills (Atlas, 1981).

Hydrocarbon biodegradation can occur over a wide range of temperatures, and psychrotrophic, mesophilic and thermophilic hydrocarbon-utilizing microorganisms have been isolated. In (Atlas, 1981), ZoBell (1973) and Traxler (1973) reported on hydrocarbon degradation at below 0°C and Mateles *et al.* (1967), reported on hydrocarbon degradation at 70°C.

Low Temperatures: Biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbons is supposed to be reduced in cold region soils, since degradation is thought to obey the Arrhenius relationship and decreases as the temperature decreases (Rikea *et al.*, 2003). In many Arctic sites, the rates of biodegradation are thought to be too low to rapidly remove

hydrocarbon contaminants, and consequently, the contaminants remain in cold arctic ecosystems for long periods following contamination.

Whyte *et al.* (1998), reported that at low temperatures, the viscosity of oil increases, reducing the degree of spreading of the oil in soil and aquatic matrices. Conversely, low temperatures retard the volatilization of short-chain alkanes, which can increase their solubility in the aqueous phase and consequently, increase their microbial toxicity, which may delay the onset of biodegradation.

Atlas (1981), indicated that low temperatures retard the rates of volatilization of lowmolecular-weight hydrocarbons, some of which are toxic to microorganisms, he postulated that at low temperatures co-metabolism play an important role in determining the rates of disappearance of hydrocarbons in the mixture but Walker and Colwell (1974), argued that low temperatures clearly do not block or completely inhibit the autochthonous microbial degradation of oil. However, a selection for specific members of the indigenous microbial population capable of carrying out microbial degradation at low temperatures does occur.

High Temperatures: Thermophilic microorganisms are capable to survive and increase in population in conditions of extremely high temperatures. These microbes undergo metabolism and biodegradation within the environment they exist. Little work has been done concerning biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbon within the thermophilic environment although Mateles *et al.* (1967) worked and reported on hydrocarbon degradation at 70°C.

Optimum Temperatures: Psychrotrophic microorganisms may be better suited for in situ bioremediation of contaminated sites from these environments than either

mesophiles, which have very low activities at $\leq 10^{\circ}$ C, or psychrophiles, whose growth is inhibited at temperatures of $\geq 15^{\circ}$ C to 20°C (although in permanently cold habitats, psychrophiles may possess greater activities than psychrotrophs (Whyte *et al.*, 1998). Psychrotrophic microorganisms able to degrade a wide range of hydrocarbons, including aliphatic, aromatic, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (Margesin and Schinner, 2001). This implies that an optimum temperature for hydrocarbon biodegradation ranges between 20°C – 30°C.

In their study Rahman *et al.* (2002), found out that all their five individual isolates and mixed bacterial consortium showed maximum crude oil degradation at 30°C and the population also corresponded and Shourian *et al.* (2009), also reported that the bacterial growth and phenol consumption was very slow at 37°C. In another study, Atlas (1975), also have reported that both low and high grade crude oils are subject to microbial degradation at 30°C and Atlas and Bartha, (1993), concluded that within the range of 10°C to 45°C, the rate of microbial activity typically doubles for every 10°C increase in temperature. Temperature also variously affects the solubility of hydrocarbons

These studies report that certain hydrocarbons are more readily degraded than others and that environmental factors such as temperature can influence the ability of microorganisms to degrade petroleum.

2.9 OPERATIONAL PARAMETERS

Biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbon is linked with number of changes in bioreactor system. Examined parameters offer data on the progress of hydrocarbon degradation by microbes. These monitored parameters describe directly and indirectly the metabolic activities of degrading microorganisms. Kwapisz *et al.* (2008), suggested some parameters which include, respiratory activities of cells, dissolved nutrient uptake, oxygen concentration and growth rate. In addition to the above, additional observed parameters include Biological Oxygen Demand (BOD) and Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD).

Common parameters monitored in this work were temperature, pH, microbial population density, conductivity, dissolved oxygen and total petroleum hydrocarbon.

2.9.1 pH

The pH profile directly relates to the metabolic activities with the system. Microbes often alter the pH of their environment by generating acidic or basic metabolic waste products (Prescott *et al.*, 2002). Production of waste metabolic products such as organic acids acidifies the growth medium. Suspension of carbon dioxide in water also decreases the pH of growth media as hydrogen cations are released. The pH usually falls as microbes transform hydrocarbons into energy and waste products. Anaerobic reactor system usually indicates lesser pH values when compared to aerobic system owing to fermentative actives in the anaerobic systems. As pH values falls or rise with time, it is implied that microorganisms are vigorously feeding on the food source and are discharging waste products into the system (Prescott *et al.*, 2002).

2.9.2 DISSOLVED OXYGEN

Measuring dissolve oxygen relates directly to microbial activity. In aerobic biodegradation processes, microbial activity is strictly related to oxygen consumption. Oxygen usage follows microbial growth curve resulting in an activity profile whereby the microorganisms are relatively active originally, increasing their oxygen requirement up to highest values and thereafter declining. Hamme *et al.* (2003), reported that the presence and concentration of oxygen becomes limiting in aerobic biodegradation

process. The amount of dissolve oxygen in the system can also determine the rate of oxygen uptake. Oxygen uptake increases with increasing microbial activity.

2.9.3 TOTAL PETROLEUM HYDROCARBON

Total Petroleum Hydrocarbon (TPH) is sometimes referred to as mineral oil, hydrocarbon oil, extractable hydrocarbons, or oil and grease. Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometer (GC-MS) and Flame Ionization Detector (FID) are mostly used to assess the constituent fractions of hydrocarbons in petroleum oils. According to Basu (2005), this method can be applied to determine the amount of total organics at any particular period. Residuals from degradation processes can be assessed to determine the magnitude of total hydrocarbon remaining in the system. This technique of defining microbial activity suffers essential inconsistency because of the fact that losses that may occur as a consequence of seepages which may comprise of metabolic daughter compounds predominantly from aromatic compounds (Butler *et al.*, 1991).

2.9.4 CONDUCTIVITY

Conductivity is related to levels of contaminations with heavy metals. Heavy metals such as lead, zinc, magnesium, cadmium and copper exert their deleterious effects on microorganisms present (Fei-Baffoe *et al.*, 2012). Hydrocarbon biodegradation processes are limited as degrading microbes are either poisoned to death or forced to enter state of dormancy because of the harsh environmental conditions caused by presences of these heavy metals.

2.9.5 MICROBIAL POPULATION

Colony Forming Units per milliliter (CFU/mL) can be used as an indirect method to evaluate microbial quantities in bioreactor systems. Different methodologies are used among various researchers. Sondarkamp *et al.* (2001), described enumeration of CFU after incubating on Standard I nutrient media (St. I) whiles Soriano and Pereira (1998), described similar process after incubating on Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA) medium. Most Probable Number (MPN) method is a more flexible alternative which allows better quantitative value to be obtained. In all the methods for enumeration, microbes are grown in a media containing hydrocarbons as the only carbon and energy source.

Notwithstanding the general acceptability of this method of measuring microbial activity, Torstensson (1997), argues that there are large uncertainties about the true reflection of microbial population due to the inability to enumerate CFU of viable cells adhered to substrate matrix.

2.10 HYDRAULIC RETENTION TIME (HRT)

Hydraulic retention time is a measure of the average length of time that a soluble compound remains in a constructed reactor. Hydraulic retention is usually expressed in hours or days. Flow rate corresponds to hydraulic retention time. Higher rates of flow produce shorter HRTs. Low degradations are recorded at shorter HRT and vice versa. The longer microbes interact with the substrate, the better the degradation of substrate.

CHAPTER THREE

WJSANE

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY

This project is an experimental study to determine the effect of temperature on biodegradation of used lubricating oil contaminated water. The investigation was carried out at the department of theoretical and applied biology, KNUST.

3.1 DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF BIOREACTORS

The experimental setup consisted of four (4) bioreactors made of 6 inch Polyvinyl chloride (PVC) pipe. Each bioreactor is approximately 0.5 m in height, 0.15 m in diameter and a volume of about 0.009 m³. The bioreactors were sealed at the bottom with plastic material. Inlet holes were created on each of the bioreactor lids to allow influent while outlet holes were also created on the sealed bottom to allow effluents (Figure 3.1).





3.2 BIOFILM SUPPORT MATERIAL

Hollow bamboo chips of about 1-2 cm in length were used as biofilm support materials. This is to serve as a supporting material for biofilm formation by preventing suspension of microbes in the liquid medium but enable immobilization or fixation so as to achieve higher rates of degradation. The bamboo chips were dried for two weeks.



Plate 3.1: Bamboo Chips used as support materials

3.3 EXPERIMENTAL SETUP

Each bioreactor was filled with 1 kg of dried bamboo chips to about 2/3 of its volume (Figure 3.1). The bamboo chips were held together in the bioreactor by rubber mesh. Two set of the bioreactors were connected in series which was parallel to the other two sets (replicates) which were also in series (Figure 3.2). A low pressure tube of length 30 m was coiled around all four bioreactors and then connected to both the outlet and inlet valves of a circulating water bath (fisher scientific model 80). A quilt serving as an insulating material was then wrapped around the PVC pipes to reduce heat loss to the surroundings. All the bioreactors were connected to an aquarium air pump to create aerobic conditions within them.



Figure 3.2: Scheme showing the experimental setup.

3.4 ISOLATING HYDROCARBON DEGRADING MICROBES

Microorganisms capable of degrading hydrocarbons were used for the experiment. Hydrocarbon-degrading microbes were isolated from water contaminated with used lubricating oil obtained from Barima Oil Service Station at Kentikrono in Kumasi. Used lubricating oil used for the experiment was also obtained from the same place. The microorganisms were cultured in a nutrient agar.

3.5 PREPARATION OF NUTRIENT MEDIUM

A nutrient agar containing all the essential nutrients (potassium, sodium, ammonium, magnesium and phosphorus) was prepared with a mixture of 0.2 g of Magnesium Sulphate (MgSO₄), 2.0 g of Anhydrous Sodium Phosphate (Na₂HPO₄.2H₂O), 1.8 g of

Ammonium Sulphate ((NH₄)₂SO₄) and 0.8 g of Potassium Hydrogen Phosphate (KH₂PO₄) in a 1 liter of distilled water (Fei-Baffoe, 2012).

3.6 CULTURING OF HYDROCARBON DEGRADING MICROBES

1000 ml of distilled water was inoculated with 40 ml of the oil contaminated water. 25 ml of prepared nutrient medium (mineral salt) was then added to the mixture followed by 5 drops of the engine oil. The mixture was then incubated at 37°C for a week.

Monitoring cell growth of the culture

The degree of turbidity (cloudiness) exhibited by a broth culture is an indication of microbial growth. As cells propagated during the incubation period, broth culture turned cloudy or turbid, a signal that microorganisms were respiring, thus the usage of the oil as their carbon and energy source.

Turbidity of the prepared liquid culture was monitored every morning during the seven day incubation period using the Wagtech photometer WG 7100. The presence of these cells was confirmed by plate count at the end of the seven day incubation period.

3.7 MICROBIAL ENUMERATION

Preparation of agar plate

17.5 g of the plate count agar (PCA) was liquefied in 1 L of distilled water. The solution was sterilized by autoclaving at 121°C for 15 minutes and afterwards cooled to about 40°C before use. Petri-dishes used were also sterilized using a hot air oven at

180°C for three hours after which they were allowed to cool appreciably before use.

Serial dilution

1 ml of liquid culture (sample) was drawn and serially diluted through to 10^{-14} . Dilutions 10^{-10} through to dilution 10^{-14} were then plated. Microbial numbers were enumerated after 24 hours of incubation at 37°C using a colony counter. The following relation was used in estimating the average microbial colonies per ml for the plated dilutions: Colony Forming Unit (CFU/ml) = { Σ (number of colonies * dilution factor) / 5 ml}.

3.8 HYDROCARBON DEGRADATION

Aerobic microorganisms capable of utilizing the hydrocarbons in the used lubricating oil as their source of carbon and energy would be actively involved in the degradation process. The sample (oil contaminated water) was pumped from the storage tank and flowed through the bioreactors and back into the storage tank during each cycling regime.

3.8.1 Acclimatization of microbes in the bioreactor systems

1000 ml of liquid culture of hydrocarbon-degrading microbes was poured into each bioreactor (containing the bamboo chips). 50 ml of nutrient (mineral salt) medium was then added to each bioreactor. A sample (oil + water) concentration of 200 mg/L was pumped through the system at a flow rate of 0.5 L/minute for five days to allow for the microbes to acclimatize to conditions within the bioreactors.

3.8.2 Studied temperature

Temperatures (27°C, 37°C, 47°C and 57°C) within the bioreactors were studied to determine their effect on the rate of oil degradation by hydrocarbon – degrading

microbes. Temperature 27°C was the ambient temperature within the bioreactors. To be able to create and maintain temperatures (37°C, 47°C and 57°C) within the bioreactors for the required duration, low pressure tubes were connected to the inlet valve of a circulating water bath (fisher scientific model 80) and coiled around the bioreactors then back to the outlet valve of the same circulating water bath (Figure 3.2). The temperature regulator of the water bath and long thermometer were used to achieve the specific required temperature within the bioreactors at any particular experimental round.

3.8.3 Oil concentrations

Sample (water + oil) concentrations of 500 mg/L and 100 mg/L were used during the degradation processes. Both concentrations were prepared by mixing the required mass of oil with 11itre of distilled water. For each experimental round, 15 L of the sample concentration under study was used.

3.8.4 Flow rate

Both sample concentrations were studied at flow rates of 0.5 L/min. The flow rate was achieved by adjusting a regulating knob on the water pump until the required amount or volume of sample per minute was flowing.

3.8.5 Operation of the bioreactor set up

A water pump, 0.5 hp (horse power) was used to propel the contaminated water in the storage tank (15 L) through the bioreactors and eventually back into the storage tank. The cycle regimes through the bioreactors were controlled using an automatic timer to which the water pump was connected. A total of five (5) pumping regimes per day were

employed for each experimental round with each pumping regime lasting for 30 minutes.

Sampling for operational parameters

In order to monitor changes in operational parameters such as pH, dissolved oxygen content and conductivity level of the system, a sample volume of 500 ml was collected from the outlet of the last bioreactor of each bioreactor set. Samples were collected on the first, third and fifth days of each experimental round.

Sampling for microbial enumeration

For the purpose of determining the microbial density of the system, a sample volume of 20 ml was collected from the storage container. Samples were collected on the first, third and fifth days of each experimental round.

Sampling for extraction

At the end of the each experimental round, a sample volume of 1000 ml was collected from the storage tank using sterile sampling bottles. The amount of hydrocarbon (oil) remaining at the end of the five days degradation period was serially extracted from the collected sample for subsequent analysis using a gas chromatograph coupled with a flame ionization detector.

3.9 MEASURING OPERATIONAL PARAMETERS

Dissolve oxygen and Conductivity

Multiparameter probe from Hanna Instrument (HI 9828) was used to measure the dissolve oxygen and conductivity. The instrument was calibrated with 100 ml Hanna

Calibration Solution for dissolve oxygen and conductivity respectively. The probe was then inserted into 400 ml of sample and waited for the instrument to stabilize. The value for dissolve oxygen and conductivity were recorded.

pН

The pH Test 20 produced by Aquatic Eco-Systems Inc. (S/N 1528630) was calibrated with buffer 4, 7 and 10. The probe of the instrument was inserted into 300 ml of sample and waited for the instrument to stabilize. The value was recorded.

Microbial population density

Microbial population density was obtained using the same procedure as described under section 3.7.

Total petroleum hydrocarbon analysis

Extraction of petroleum hydrocarbons from sample after degradation

A sample volume of 500 ml was consecutively extracted three times in two successions with methylene chloride using a separatory funnel. 150 ml of the methylene chloride was initially added to the sample and was well shaken for about 20 minutes to homogenize it using an electronic shaker. About 250 ml of the well shaken sample containing methylene chloride was then conveyed into a 500 ml separatory funnel. The separatory funnel with its content was shaken for about 40 seconds and allowed to stand for about 20 minutes to allow for separation of the organic segment from the aqueous segment. The organic segment (containing the oil) was then carefully drained into a 50 ml beaker. The extraction was repeated two more times with 25 ml of the methylene chloride (in each case) and the oil extracts combined afterwards. The remaining three

sets of 250 ml of the sample were subjected to the same treatment as above and the extracts added to that from the first three extractions. The combined extracts was then poured in to soxhlet and processed to recover some of the methylene chloride used. After this process, the beaker containing the extracts was then subjected to heating using a hot plate to get rid of traces of any water remaining in the extracted oil. The final sample extract (oil), which was about 1 ml was then forced through a string clotted with cotton wool into a 2 ml vial. This was to further remove any trace of water in the extract. In total, eight samples went through the same treatment as described above.

✤ Gas chromatographic (GC) analysis

GC analysis was performed for all the samples (oil/hydrocarbon extracts) after extraction under these conditions stated in table 3.1:

Table 3.1: Parameters and their corresponding conditions used during GC analysis.

Initial temperature40 °C, hold for 0.5 minutesFinal temperature290 °C, hold for 10 minutesInjector Temperature290 °CDetector Temperature300 °CMake-up gas25 ml/minutesCarrier gas flow rate5 ml/minutesProgram40 °C to 290 °C at 15 °C/min	PARAMETER	CONDITION	
Final temperature290 °C, hold for 10 minutesInjector Temperature290 °CDetector Temperature300 °CMake-up gas25 ml/minutesCarrier gas flow rate5 ml/minutesProgram40 °C to 290 °C at 15 °C/min	Initial temperature	40 °C, hold for 0.5 minutes	
Injector Temperature290 °CDetector Temperature300 °CMake-up gas25 ml/minutesCarrier gas flow rate5 ml/minutesProgram40 °C to 290 °C at 15 °C/min	Final temperature	290 °C, hold for 10 minutes	
Detector Temperature300 °CMake-up gas25 ml/minutesCarrier gas flow rate5 ml/minutesProgram40 °C to 290 °C at 15 °C/min	Injector Temperature	<mark>290 °C</mark>	
Make-up gas25 ml/minutesCarrier gas flow rate5 ml/minutesProgram40 °C to 290 °C at 15 °C/min	Detector Temperature	300 °C	
Carrier gas flow rate5 ml/minutesProgram40 °C to 290 °C at 15 °C/min	Make-up gas	25 ml/minutes	
Program 40 °C to 290 °C at 15 °C/min	Carrier gas flow rate	5 ml/minutes	
Program 40 °C to 290 °C at 15 °C/min	40		
	Program	40 °C to 290 °C at 15 °C/min	

The order of chromatographic analysis was initiated with a solvent blank followed by calibration verification standard; method blank and lastly the sample extract (oil) analyses. The calibration verification standard was an n-alkane mixture that contained

 C_{10} to C_{35} range of hydrocarbons. A 500 µg/ml working concentration was prepared for both the standard and sample extracts (Environmental Research Institute, 1999).



CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

The results generated from the experimental study are presented below.

4.1 EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON DEGRADATION AT VARIED OIL

CONCENTRATIONS

4.1.1 Effect of temperature on degradation at oil concentration 500 mg/L. The figure 4.1 below represents the degradation rates achieved for the studied temperatures of 27°C, 37°C, 47°C and 57°C at oil concentrations 500 mg/L.





At oil concentration 500 mg/L, degradation rate increased steadily as temperature was increased to 47°C and declined sharply when temperature was increased to 57°C.

Maximum and minimum degradation rates were 93.40 \pm 0.0 % and 55.55 \pm 0.0 % corresponding to temperatures 47°C and 57°C respectively (Figure 4.1).

4.1.1.1 Effect of temperature on microbial population at oil concentration 500 mg/L.

The figure below (4.2) represents the final microbial numbers obtained for the studied temperatures of 27°C, 37°C, 47°C and 57°C at oil concentrations 500 mg/L.



Figure 4.2 Microbial population obtained at varied temperatures for oil concentration 500 mg/L

At 500 mg/L of oil concentration, there was a fluctuation in the final microbial numbers as temperature increases from 27°C to 57°C. The maximum and minimum microbial numbers were $8.21E-08\pm 0.0$ and $9.21E-09\pm 0.0$ corresponding to temperatures 47°C and 57°C respectively (Figure 4.2).

4.1.2 Effect of temperature on degradation at oil concentration 1000 mg/L The

figure 4.3 below represents the degradation rates achieved for the studied temperatures of 27°C, 37°C, 47°C and 57°C at oil concentrations 1000 mg/L.





At oil concentration 1000 mg/L, there was a gradual increase in rate of degradation as temperature was increased 47°C and declined sharply when temperature was increased to 57°C. Maximum and minimum degradation rates were 98.29 ± 0.0 % and 89.47 ± 0.0 % corresponding to temperatures 47°C and 57°C respectively (Figure 4.3).

4.1.2.1 Effect of temperature on microbial population at oil concentration 1000 mg/L

The figure below (4.4) represents the final microbial numbers obtained for the studied temperatures of 27°C, 37°C, 47°C and 57°C at oil concentrations 1000 mg/L.



Figure 4.4 Microbial population obtained at varied temperatures for oil concentration 1000 mg/L

At 1000 mg/L of oil concentration, there was a gradual increase in microbial numbers from 7.65E-08±0.0 at 27°C to 8.09E-08±0.0 at 37°C, microbial numbers then decreased gradually to 7.71E-08±0.0 at 47°C and sharply to 2.63E-08±0.0 at 57°C. Maximum and minimum numbers obtained were 8.09E-08±0.0 and 2.63E-08±0.0 corresponding to temperatures of 37°C and 57°C respectively (Figure 4.4).

4.1.3 SUMMARY

4.1.3.1 Effect of temperature on degradation at different oil concentrations The figure 4.5 below represents the degradation rates achieved for the studied temperatures of 27°C, 37°C, 47°C and 57°C at different oil concentrations of 500 mg/L and 1000 mg/L respectively.



Figure 4.5 Degradation rates at different temperatures and oil concentrations

For both oil concentrations studied (500 mg/L and 1000 mg/L), gradual increase in degradation rates were observed as temperature increases from 27°C to 47°C but sharply decline with increase in temperature to 57°C (Figure 4.5). Maximum and minimum degradation rates across both oil concentrations were 98.29 \pm 0.0 % and 55.55 \pm 0.0 % corresponding to temperatures 47°C and 57°C respectively.

4.1.3.2 Effect of temperature on microbial population at different oil concentrations

The figure below (4.6) represents the final microbial numbers obtained for the studied temperatures of 27°C, 37°C, 47°C and 57°C at different oil concentrations (500 mg/L and 1000 mg/L respectively).



Figure 4.6 Microbial population at different temperatures and oil concentrations

For the both oil concentrations used (500 mg/L and 1000 mg/L), there was a general increase in microbial numbers as temperature increases from 27°C to 47°C but with some exceptions and sharply decline with increase in temperature to 57°C (Figure 4.6). Maximum and minimum microbial numbers obtained across both oil concentrations were 8.21E-08±0.0 and 9.21E-09±0.0 corresponding to temperatures 47°C and 57°C respectively.

4.4 ANALYSIS OF THE EFFECT OF pH, DISSOLVED OXYGEN (D.O) AND CONDUCTIVITY ON DEGRADATION AND MICROBIAL POPULATION

The table below (4.1) represents monitored parameters with their corresponding degradation rates, microbial numbers for the studied temperatures (27°C, 37°C, 47°C and 57°C) oil concentrations (500 mg/L and 1000 mg/L respectively).

STUDIED	рН	D.0	CONDUCTIVITY	DEGRADATION	FINAL
CONDITIONS		(mg/L)	(µS/cm)	(%)	MICROBIAL
					NUMBERS
		1.21	CTT D	~T	(CFU/ml)
27°C (500 mg/L)	6.48±0.11	1.05±0.46	1.16±0.20	70.56±0.0	5.69E-08±0.0
37°C (500 mg/L)	6.66±0.3	0.83±0.11	1.05±0.22	89.66±0.0	4.20E-08±0.0
47°C (500 mg/L)	6.79±0.22	1.04±0.34	0.81±0.03	93.40±0.0	8.21E-08±0.0
57°C (500 mg/L)	6.65±0.17	1.07±0.18	0.67±0.02	55.55±0.0	9.21E-09±0.0
27°C (1000 mg/L)	6.48±0.14	1.29±0.11	0.43±0.05	91.38±0.0	7.65E-08±0.0
37°C (1000 mg/L)	6.74±0.05	2.77±0.68	0.33±0.01	96.52±0.0	8.09E-08±0.0
47°C (1000 mg/L)	6.76±0.01	2.39±0.1	0.45±0.01	98.29±0.0	7.71E-08±0.0
57°C (1000 mg/L)	6.67±0.11	3.26±0.13	0.45±0.01	89.47±0.0	2.63E-08±0.0

 Table 4.1 Summarized results showing the relationship between monitored parameters,

 degradation rates and microbial populations

For both oil concentrations studied (500 mg/L and 1000 mg/L), it was observed that increase in pH was directly proportional to microbial numbers and degradation rates (Table 4.1). Maximum and minimum pH values recorded across both oil concentrations were 6.79±0.22 and 6.48±0.11 corresponding to microbial populations of 8.21E-08±0.0 CFU and 5.69E-08±0.0 CFU and degradation rates 93.40±0.0 % and 70.56±0.0 % respectively.

It was observed that increase in dissolved oxygen levels were directly proportional to microbial numbers. An exception to the above statement was observed at temperature 57°C and for both oil concentration 500 mg/L and 1000 mg/L (Table 4.1). Maximum and

minimum dissolved oxygen levels obtained across both oil concentrations were 3.26±0.13 mg/L and 0.83±0.11 mg/L corresponding to microbial populations 2.63E08±0.0 CFU and

4.20E 08±0.0 CFU and degradation rates 89.47±0.0 % and

89.66±0.0 % respectively.

For both oil concentrations (500 mg/L and 1000 mg/L), it was observed that general decrease in conductivity levels translated into increase in microbial numbers and degradation rates (Table 4.1). Maximum and minimum conductivity levels obtained across both oil concentrations were 1.16 ± 0.20 µS/cm and 0.33 ± 0.01 µS/cm corresponding to microbial populations $5.69E-08\pm0.0$ CFU and $8.09E-08\pm0.0$ CFU and degradation rates 70.56 ± 0.0 % and 96.52 ± 0.0 % respectively.

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 DISCUSSION

It is apparent that the microbial degradation of oil pollutants is a complex process and that environmental factors have a great influence on the fate of spilled oil. The biodegradability of a variety of crude oils is highly dependent on crude oil composition and temperature (Atlas, 1975).

5.1 EFFECTS OF TEMPERATURE ON THE DEGRADATION

Degrading micro-organisms are particularly active in phases of temperature increase in the system (Popp *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, increasing temperature increases and accelerates the growth of bacteria that resulted in increasing the degradation process of the crude oil at high temperature (Zekri and Chaalal, 2005).

This study revealed a general increase in degradation rates for the various studied temperatures except at 57°C for the studied oil concentrations. The increase in degradation rates from temperature 27°C to 47°C possible suggests that microbial activities were enhanced as the temperature increases. This resulted in an increase in microbial numbers as observed in the study. Possibly, the increase in microbial numbers, which translated into an increase in their metabolic activities as temperature was increased gradually to 47°C suggests that solubility of hydrocarbons regardless of the oil concentration also increased. Lee *et al.* (2005) reported that low solubility of hydrocarbons limits their availability to microorganisms. Solubility and hence accessibility of the petroleum hydrocarbons to microbes was enhanced as temperature was increased and thereby higher degradation rates.

Apart from microbial activities, the increase in degradation rates as the temperature increases from 27°C to 47°C as recorded in the study is also due to the fact temperature has influence on the physico-chemical properties of oil. Rahman *et al.* (2000), found that temperature influences petroleum biodegradation by its effect on the physico-chemical properties of the oil. The rate of physical weathering and breakages/disruption of chemical bonds within petroleum hydrocarbons increases as temperature increases. This resulted in breakdown of petroleum hydrocarbons and hence an increase in degradation rate.

Although the results recorded in this study did not have the maximum degradation occurring at 30°C as observed by Atlas (1975) and also the degradation rate did not double for every 10°C rise in temperature from $27^{\circ}C-47^{\circ}C$ reported by Atlas and Bartha (1998), the study conforms to the general principle that petroleum hydrocarbon degradation increases as temperature increase from $20^{\circ}C-45^{\circ}C$. The differences observed could be attributed to the differences in the composition of substrate utilized by the hydrocarbon degrading microbes for the different studies.

Little work has been done on biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbon within temperatures above 50°C (Mateles *et al.*, 1967). The results of the study revealed a drastic drop/decrease of microbial numbers for both oil concentrations studied (500 mg/L and 1000 mg/L) at 57°C. This possibly suggests that microorganisms used for the study barely survived at that temperature (57° C) and had the duration been increased, all the microbes will be extinct. This indicates that the environmental conditions within the bioreactors were not favorable for the hydrocarbon degrading microbes at that temperature (57° C) and hence the fall in their numbers.

The degradation rates ($55.55\pm0.0\%$ and $89.47\pm0.0\%$) recorded at temperature $57^{\circ}C$ for oil concentrations 500 mg/L and 1000 mg/L respectively could possibly be from two sources;

i) Partly due to the possible activation of dormant hydrocarbon degrading microbes within the bioreactors that thrive best at this temperature. Once favorable environmental conditions appeared, they revived from their state of dormancy and actively began to metabolize the petroleum hydrocarbons.

Largely due to physico-chemical degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons. Venosa and Zhu (2003), reported that temperature plays very vital roles in biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbons, initially by its direct effect on the chemistry of the pollutants.
 Temperature enhances the rate of physical weathering and also breaks down chemical bonds within hydrocarbon chains.

Statistical analysis (Table 4.16) revealed the differences in degradation rates for various temperatures studied to be statistically significant (p < 0.05).

54

5.2 MONITORED PARAMETERS ON DEGRADATION

5.2.1 pH

Low and high pH levels create acidic and alkaline conditions respectively in the aqueous medium and thereby influences negatively on microbial populations (Prescott *et al.*, 2002). Rate of biodegradation is reduced at these extreme conditions because of their effects on microbial growth. The inhibition of growth at a low pH could arise from insufficient energy to shift protons outwardly through the cell membrane to establish a proton motive gradient and from an additional expenditure of energy to maintain the membrane potential. The growth inhibitions that are seen at a low pH could be caused by a direct effect of the H ion on cellular components (Russell and

Dombrowski, 1980).

The study however revealed that the degradation process generally occurred in slightly acidic conditions (pH 6.48 – 6.79) for all the studied temperatures and oil concentrations (Table 4.2). This falls outside the inhibition range of low and high pH effects but lies within the assertion of US EPA, (2006) which states that biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbons is most favorable at a pH 7 (neutral), the suitable range is pH 6 – 8. Statistical analysis (Table 4.18) revealed that pH had no significant influence on degradation (p < 0.05).

5.2.2 DISSOLVED OXYGEN

Aerobic situations are essential for microbial oxidation of hydrocarbons in petroleum contaminated or polluted environment. Kao *et al.* (2008), reported that BTEX are biodegradable under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Nevertheless, rates of BTEX biodegradation under aerobic conditions are higher than those under anaerobic

conditions. The solubility and availability of nutrients are affected by oxygen content of water and therefore the productivity of microbes (Ukpaka, 2013). Hydrocarbon degrading microbes also use dissolved oxygen to decompose organic materials within the oil contaminated water.

Chiang *et al.* (1989), stated that minimum dissolved oxygen level below which hydrocarbon biodegradation is either inhibited or slowed is 0.5 ppm (0.5 mg/L) and in order to prevent this, oxygen was supplied to all the bioreactors by an oxygen pump. The study revealed that there was oxygen present in the bioreactors at all times

(0.83±0.11 mg/L - 3.26±0.13 mg/L) (Table 4.1).

The highest $(3.26\pm0.13 \text{ mg/L})$ and lowest $(0.83\pm0.11 \text{ mg/L})$ dissolved oxygen levels recorded had almost the same degradation rates $(89.47\pm0.0 \%$ and $89.66\pm0.0 \%$ respectively). This is due to the difference in microbial numbers present at each particular period. Since both values exceed the minimum dissolved oxygen requirement for biodegradation, dissolved oxygen was not a limiting factor.

At the highest dissolved oxygen level which is expected to have higher degradation rate, microbial population (2.63E-08±0.0 CFU) was extremely low as compared to that of the lowest dissolved oxygen level (4.20E 08±0.0 CFU). This is because the temperature level (57°C) at that period was very high and microbes barely survive at such temperatures. The little dissolved oxygen present at temperature 57°C was in excess for the few microbes present and was then available in the water to be recorded.

The degradation rate achieved at this temperature may be attributed to second factor elaborated in section 5.1 above. Dissolved oxygen influence on the degradation was not statistically significant (p < 0.05) (Table 4.19).

5.2.3 CONDUCTIVITY

Conductivity is a measure of water's capability to pass electrical flow and this ability is directly related to the concentration of ions in the water. The ionic compositions of water sources are dependent on the surrounding environment (Kemker, 2013). This experimental study sampled used lubricating oil and because of the functions of this lubricating oil in the engine parts of automobiles, ions within the lubricating oil are likely to come from heavy metals. Conductivity is related to levels of contaminations with heavy metals. Heavy metals such as lead, zinc, magnesium, cadmium and copper exert their deleterious effects on microorganisms present (Fei-Baffoe *et al.*, 2012).

Higher conductivity levels in the oil are a reflection of higher presence of heavy metals in the oil. The study reveals that higher conductivity translates into lower degradation rates and vice versa. The biodegradation processes are limited as degrading microbes are either poisoned to death or forced to enter state of dormancy because of the harsh environmental conditions caused by presences of these heavy metals. Higher conductivity also helps to inhibit protease activities in water. (Ukpaka, 2013). Statistical analysis (Table 4.20) revealed that conductivity had no significant influence on degradation (p < 0.05).

5.3 Summary

The experiment provides a great lesson regarding the role of temperature in microbial degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons within the lubricating oil. Biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbons occurred at ambient temperature but when temperatures within the bioreactors were increased, microbial numbers increased and consequently the rate of degradations also increased. This indicates that increasing temperature within the

bioreactors to a suitable level had positive impact on the growth and activities of microbes present. The efficiency of the biodegradation process of this study was optimized when temperature within the bioreactors were increased to 47°C.

KNUST

CHAPTER SIX 6.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

6.1 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the experimental study conducted proved to be successful. Generally, the study confirmed that petroleum hydrocarbon degradation rate increases as temperature is increased. Isolating petroleum degrading microbes for the study was successful and confirmed the efficiency of mixed consortium in degrading hydrocarbons. Culturing, inoculating and acclimatization of microbes within the bioreactors were also successful and this enabled the study to begin smoothly.

Degradation rates were greatly influenced by temperature. Increasing temperature generally caused an increase in degradation rates. At the highest temperature, there was a percentage degradation achieved even though microbial numbers decreased. Doubling the oil concentration did not have any adverse effects on microbial numbers as the oil concentrations were within solubility limits. Higher degradation rates were achieved at higher oil concentrations.

Microbial numbers generally increased as temperature was increased and also as the oil concentration was doubled. This translated into higher degradation rates. Monitored parameters – pH, Dissolved Oxygen (DO), conductivity, final microbial numbers and

Total Petroleum Hydrocarbon (TPH) measured to determine the progress of the biodegradation processes served as very good indicators to the study. Degradation processes occurred within slightly acidic conditions, lower conductivities translated into higher degradation rates.

6.2 RECOMMENDATIONS

Below are some recommendations being proposed for future consideration:

- Further research can be carried out to investigate why degradation rates are lowered at higher temperatures.
- The application of this technology in degrading other contaminates such as organochlorines can also be considered.
- Similar research can be carried out by adding fresh organic waste materials to the degradation process and the results compared with that of the used oil alone.



REFERENCES

Allen, L., Ghen, M. J., Abelson, D. and Miller, B. (2010). Fossil Fuels and Water Quality. May 2010.

Allen, P.J., Estella, A. A., Eliot, A. A., Duris, J. W., Werkema, D. D and

Rossbach, S. (2007). The Microbial Community Structure in PetroleumContaminated Sediments Corresponds to Geophysical Signatures. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2007, 73(9):2860. DOI: 10.1128/AEM.01752-06.Published Ahead of Print 9 March 2007.

Alonso-Gutie rrez,J., Antonio, F., Albaige s, J., Nu ria,J., Vin as, M., Solanas, A. M., and Novoa, B. (2009). Bacterial Communities from Shoreline Environments (Costa da Morte,Northwestern Spain) Affected by the PrestigeOil Spill. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, June 2009, p. 3407–3418 Vol. 75, No. 1100992240/09/\$08.00_0 doi:10.1128/AEM.01776-08.Copyright © 2009, American Society for Microbiology.

Andrade, L. L., Deborah, C.A. L., Edir, M. F., Lívia, Q. F., Geraldo, R. P.,
Michael, J M., Casey, R.J. H., Raquel, S. P., Regina, M.C.P. D. and Alexandre, S.
R. (2012). Microbial diversity and anaerobic hydrocarbondegradation potential in an oil-contaminatedmangrove sediment. BMC Microbiology 2012, 12:186.
http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2180/12/186.

Anne, E. G., Jason, G. K., Karim, J., Stehmeier, L. G. (2000). Composition of Soil Microbial Communities Enriched on a Mixture of Aromatic Hydrocarbons.
Applied and EnvironmentalMicrobiology,0099-2240/00/\$04.0010. Dec. 2000, p. 5282–5289 Vol. 66, No. 12. Copyright © 2000, American Society for Microbiology.

Atlas, M.R. (1975). Effects of Temperature and Crude Oil Composition on Petroleum Biodegradation.Applied Microbiology, Sept. 1975, p. 396-403Copyright © 1975 American Society for MicrobiologyVol. 30, No. 3Printed in U.S.A.

Atlas, M. R. (1981). Microbial Degradation of Petroleum Hydrocarbons: an Environmental Perspective. Microbiological Reviews, March 1981, p. 180-209 Vol. 45, No. 1 0146-0749/81/010180-30\$02.00/0.

Atlas, M. R. (2011). Oil Biodegradation and Bioremediation: A Tale of the Two Worst Spillsin U.S. History. dx.doi.org/10.1021/es2013227 | Environ. Sci. Technol. 2011, 45, 6709–6715.

Atlas, R. M., and Bartha, R.(1972). Degradationand mineralization of petroleum in seawater:
limitation by nitrogen and phosphorus. In:Atlas, M. R. (1981). Microbial
Degradation of Petroleum Hydrocarbons: an Environmental
Perspective. Microbiological Reviews, March 1981, p. 180-209 Vol. 45, No. 1 01460749/81/010180-30\$02.00/0.

Atlas, R.M. and Bartha, R. (1993).Microbial Ecology: Fundamentals and Applications, 3rd, Benjamin/Cumrnings Publ. Co.CA. 61 | Page Avian Demography Unit. (2000). Department of Statistical Sciences, University of Cape Town, South Africa Press Release: Rescue of Seabirds in Western Cape.

Bartha, R. and Atlas, R. M. (1977). The microbiology of aquatic oil spills. In:Atlas,
M. R. (1981). Microbial Degradation of Petroleum Hydrocarbons: an Environmental
Perspective. Microbiological Reviews, March 1981, p. 180-209 Vol. 45, No. 1
01460749/81/010180-30\$02.00/0.

Basu, P. R. (2005). Evaluation of biological treatment for the degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons in a waste water treatment plant. MSc. Thesis, Texas A and M University. USA.

Bordenave, S., Goñi-Urriza, S. M., Pierre, C. and Duran, R. (2007). Effects of Heavy Fuel Oil on the Bacterial Mat Community Structure of a Pristine Microbial. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2007, 73(19):6089. DOI10.1128/AEM.01352-07Published Ahead of Print 17 August 2007.

Boopathy, R. (2000). Factors limiting bioremediation technologies." Department of Biological Sciences, Nicholls State University, Thibodaux, LA 70310, USA.
Bioresource Technology 74 (2000) 63±67.
Bossert, I.and Bartha, R. (1984). The Fate of Petroleum in soil Ecosystems. In: Chukwuma, S. E., Ikechukwu, N. E. O. and Obinna, A. O. (2012). Comprehensive

Perspectives in Bioremediation of Crude Oil Contaminated Environments,

Introduction to Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR) Processes and Bioremediation of OilContaminated Sites. ISBN: 978-953-51-0629-6.

Butler, E. L., Douglas, G. S., Steinhauer, W. G., Prince, R. C., Aczel, T., Hsu, C. S., Bronson, M. T., Clark, J. R., Lindstorm, J. E. (1991). H opane, a new chemical tool for measuring oil biodegradation. P.515-521.

Capelli, S. M.,Busalmen, J. P., Sanchez S. R. (2001). Hydrocarbon bioremediation of a mineral-base contaminated waste from crude oil extraction by indigenous bacteria. International Biodeterioration& Biodegradation 47 (2001) 233–238. Accepted 19 March 2001.

Chandra, D., Himanshu, T. and Rahul, A. (2012). Bioremediation of Crude Oil Spills and its Effect on Aquifer Geochemistry. MIT9th Biennial International conference and exposition on petroleum geophysicsHyderabad 2012.

Chukwuma, S. E., Ikechukwu, N. E. O. and Obinna, A. O. (2012). Comprehensive Perspectives in Bioremediation of Crude Oil Contaminated Environments, Introduction to Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR) Processes and Bioremediation of OilContaminated Sites. ISBN: 978-953-51-0629-6.

Cooney, J. J., Silver, S. A. and Beck, E. A. (1985). Factors influencing hydrocarbon degradation in three freshwater lakes. Microb. Ecol. 11:127-137.

Das, K. and Mukherjee, A. K. (2006). Crude petroleum-oil biodegradation efficiency of *Bacillus subtilis* and *Pseudomonasaeruginosa*strains isolated from a petroleum-oil contaminated soil from North-East India. Bioresource Technology 98 (2007) 1339–1345, accepted 22 May 2006.

Dibble, J. T. and Bartha, R. (1979). Effect of environmental parameters on the biodegradation of oil sludge. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 1979, 37(4):729.
Dojka, A. M., Hugenholtz, P., Sheridan, K. H. and Norman, R. P. (1998).
Microbial Diversity in a Hydrocarbon- and Chlorinated-Solvent-Contaminated

SANE NO
Aquifer Undergoing Intrinsic Bioremediation.Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 0099-2240/98/\$04.0010. Oct. 1998, p. 3869–3877 Vol. 64, No. 10 Copyright © 1998, American Society for Microbiology.

Dorn, B. P. and Salanitro, P. J. (2000). Temporal ecological assessment of oil contaminated soils before and after bioremediation. Chemosphere 40 (2000) 419±426.

Dvirka and Bartilucci consulting Engineers, Woodbury, New York. November 2007.

Ekpo, M.A. and Udofia, U.S. (2008). Rate of biodegradation of crude oil by microorganismsisolated from oil sludge environment. African Journal of Biotechnology Vol. 7 (24), pp. 4495-4499, 17 December, 2008. Available online at http://www.academicjournals.org/AJB. ISSN 1684–5315 © 2008Academic Journals.

Environmental Research Institute, (1999). Analysis of Extractable Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (ETPH) Using Methylene Chloride: Gas Chromatograph/Flame Ionization Detection, University of Connecticut.

Fei-Baffoe, B., Antwi-Akomeah, S., Agyapong, E. A. and Osei-Fosu, P. (2012). Biodegradation Of Used Lubricating Engine Oil Contaminated Water Using Indigenous Hydrocarbon Degrading Microbes In A Fixed Bed Bioreactor System. Journal Of Ghana Science Association, Vol. 14 No. 1. June 2012.

Fusey, P., and Oudot, J. (1984). Relative influence of physical removal and biodegradation in the depuration of petroleum contaminated seashore sediments. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 15:136-141.

Ghazali, F. M., Raja, N. Z., Abdul, R., Abu, B. S., Mahiran, B. (2004). Biodegradation of hydrocarbons in soil by microbial consortium. International Biodeterioration& Biodegradation 54 (2004) 61 – 67.

Gogoia, B.K., Duttaa, N.N., Goswamia, P., Krishna, M. T.R. (2003). A case study of bioremediation of petroleum-hydrocarboncontaminated soil at a crude oil spill site. Advances in Environmental Research 7 (2003) 767–782.

Hamamura, N., Olson, S. H., Ward, D. M and Inskeep, W. P. (2006). Microbial Population Dynamics Associated with Crude-OilBiodegradation in Diverse Soils. Applied And Environmental Microbiology, Sept. 2006, p. 6316–6324 Vol. 72, No. 90099-2240/06/\$08.00_0 doi:10.1128/AEM.01015-06Copyright © 2006, American Society for Microbiology.

Hamme, V. D. J., Ajay, S. and Owen, P. W. (2003). Recent Advances in Petroleum Microbiology. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews, Dec. 2003, p. 503–549 Vol. 67, No. 4 1092-2172/03/\$08.00_0 DOI: 10.1128/MMBR.67.4.503–549.2003 Copyright © 2003, American Society for Microbiology.

Ho[•]hener, P., Duwig1,C., Pasteris, G., Karin, K., Dakhel, N., Hauke, H. (2003). Biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbon vapors: laboratory studies on rates and kinetics in unsaturated alluvial sand. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 66 (2003) 93– 115.

Hutchinson, T. C., Hellebust, I. and Telford, M. (1994).Oil Spill effects on vegetation and soil micro fauna at Norman Wells and Tuktoyaktuk. N. W.T. Environmental-Social Program Northern Pipelines, TaskForce on Northern Oil Development, Report # 74-14. 69 Page "In Situ Oxidation", Technology Status Review, performed by ThermoRetec Consulting Corporation with assistance from HydroGeo-Logic, Inc. and Coleman Research Corporation – Energy &Environmental Group. (1999) Environmental Security Certification Program, USA, November 42 p.

Kao, C.M., Chen, C.Y., Chen, S.C., Chien, H.Y. and Chen, Y.L. (2008). Application of in situ biosparging to remediate apetroleum-hydrocarbon spill site. Field and microbial evaluation. Chemosphere 70 (2008) 1492–1499.

Kaplan W. C. and Kitts L. C. (2004).Bacterial Succession in a Petroleum Land
Treatment Unit. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, Mar. 2004, p. 1777–1786
Vol. 70, No. 30099-2240/04/\$08.00_0 DOI: 10.1128/AEM.70.3.1777–1786.2004Copyright
© 2004, American Society for Microbiology.

Kasai, Y., Hideo, K. and Shigeaki, H. (2002). Bacteria Belonging to the Genus *Cycloclasticus*Play a Primary Role in the Degradation of Aromatic Hydrocarbons
Released in a Marine Environment." Applied and Environmental Microbiology, Nov. 2002, p. 5625–5633 Vol. 68, No. 11 0099-2240/02/\$04.00_0 DOI: 10.1128/AEM.68.11.5625–5633.2002 Copyright © 2002, American Society for Microbiology.

Ka[°]Stner M., Breuer-Jammali M. and Bernd M. (1998). Impact of Inoculation Protocols, Salinity, and pH on theDegradation of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) andSurvival of PAH-Degrading Bacteria Introduced into Soil.

Applied and Environmental Microbiology,0099-2240/98/\$04.0010Jan. 1998, p. 359–362 Vol. 64, No. 1Copyright © 1998, American Society for Microbiology.

Keijisugiura M., Toshitsu G. and Shigeaki H. (1997). Physicochemical Properties and Biodegradability of Crude Oil. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1997, 31, 45-51.

Kemker, C. (2013). Fundamentals of Environmental Measurements. Fondriest Environmental, Inc. 19 Nov. 2013. Web. < http://www.fondriest.com/environmental measurements /parameters /water-quality/dissolved-oxygen/ >.

Kostka, E.J., Prakash, O. M., Will, A. O., Stefan, J. G., Gina, F., Andy, C.,
Delgardio, N. N., Terry, C. H. and Markus, H. (2011). Hydrocarbon-Degrading
Bacteria and the Bacterial Community Response in Gulf of Mexico Beach Sands
Impacted by the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2011,
77(22):7962. DOI:10.1128/AEM.05402-11.Published Ahead of Print 23 September 2011.
Kwaspisz, E., Wszelaka, J., Marchut, O., Bielecki, S. (2008). The effect of nitrate and
ammonium ions on kinetics of diesel oil degradation by *Gordoniaalkanivorans S7*.
International Biodeterioration& Biodegradation, Vol 61, Issue 3, 214-222.

Leahy, J.G. and Colwell, R.R. (1990). Microbial degradation of hydrocarbons in the environment. In:Basu, P. R.(2005). Evaluation of biological treatment for the degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons in a waste water treatment plant. MSc. Thesis, Texas A and M University. USA.

Lee, K. and Merlin, F. X.(1999). Bioremediation of oil on shoreline environments: development of techniques and guidelines. Pure Appl. Chem. 71(1): 161-171

Lee, M., Kim, M.K., Singleton, I., Goodfellow, M. and Lee, S.T. (2005). Enhanced biodegradation of diesel oil by a newly identified Rhodococcusbaikonurensis EN3 in the presence of mycolicAcid.doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2005.02756.xJournal of Applied Microbiology ISSN 1364-5072.

Macnaughton, J. S., John, R. S., Albert, D. V., Gregory, A. D., Yun-Juan, C. and David, C. W. (1999). "Microbial Population Changes during Bioremediationof an Experimental Oil Spill. Applied and Environmental Microbiology,00992240/99/\$04.0010. Aug. 1999, p. 3566–3574 Vol. 65, No. 8Copyright © 1999, American Society for Microbiology.

Mariano, A. P., Bonotto1, D. M., Dejanira, F. A., Pirôllo, M. P. S. and Contiero, J. (2008). Biodegradability of Commercial and Weathered Diesel Oils. Brazilian Journal of Microbiology (2008) 39:133-142ISSN 1517-8382 Approved: January 20, 2008.

Margesin, R., Zimmerbauer, A. and Schinner, F. (1999). Monitoring of bioremediation by soil biological activities. Institute of Microbiology (N.F.), University of Innsbruck, Technikerstrasse 25, A-6020 Innsbruck, AustriaReceived 3 March 1999; accepted 14 April 1999. Chemosphere 40 (2000) 339±346.

Margesin, R. and Schinner, F. (2001). Bioremediation (Natural Attenuation and Biostimulation) of Diesel-Oil-Contaminated Soil in an Alpine Glacier Skiing Area. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 0099-2240/01/\$04.0010 DOI:10.1128/AEM.67.7.3127–3133.2001 July 2001, p. 3127–3133 Vol. 67, No. 7 Copyright © 2001, American Society for Microbiology.

Mateles, R. I., Baruah, N. and Tannenbaum, S. R. (1967). Growth of thermophilic bacteriaon hydrocarbons: a new source of single cell protein. Science 157:1322-1323.

Office of Technology Assessment, (1991). Biodegradation for Marine Oil Spills.

Pfaender,F. K. and Bartholomew, G. W. (1982). Measurementof aquatic biodegradation rates by determining heterotrophic uptake of radiolabeled pollutants. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 44:159-164.

Popp, N., Schlo^mmann, M. and Margit, M. (2006). Bacterial diversity in the active stage of a bioremediation system for mineral oil hydrocarbon-contaminated soils.
Microbiology (2006), 152, 3291–3304 DOI 10.1099/mic.0.29054-0.

Prescott, L. M., Harley, J.P., Klein, D.E. (2002). Microbiology. 5th Edition, McGraw Hill Inc., New York. p. 20-38, 96-132, 1012-1018.

Rahman, K.S.M., Thahira-Rahman, J., Lakshmanaperumalsamy, P. and Banat, I.M. (2002). Towards efficient crude oil degradation by a mixedbacterial consortium.Bioresource Technology 85 (2002) 257–261.

Ramos, J. L., Duque, E., Ramos-Gonzalez, M. I. (1991). Survival in soils of an herbicide-resistant Pseudomonas putida strain bearing a recombinant TOL plasmid. In:Das, K. and Mukherjee, A. K. (2006). Crude petroleum-oil biodegradation efficiency of *Bacillus subtilis* and *Pseudomonasaeruginosa*strains isolated from a petroleum-oil contaminated soil from North-East India. Bioresource Technology 98 (2007) 1339–1345, accepted 22 May 2006.

Rikea, A. G., Kjetil,B. H., Marion, B.,Bjarne,E., Kolstada, P.(2003). In situ biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbons in frozen arctic soils.Cold Regions Science and Technology 37 (2003) 97–120.

Ron, E. Z. and Rosenberg, E. (2002). Biosurfactants and oil bioremediation. In: Basu, P. R. (2005). Evaluation of biological treatment for the degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons in a waste water treatment plant. Msc. Thesis, Texas A and M University. USA.

Ro[°]ling, F. M. W., Michael, G. M., Martin, J. D., Kenneth, L., Fabien, D., Richard, J. P. S. and Ian, M.H. (2002). Robust Hydrocarbon Degradation and Dynamics of

Bacterial Communities during Nutrient-EnhancedOil Spill Bioremediation.Applied and Environmental Microbiology, Nov. 2002, p. 5537–5548 Vol. 68, No. 11. 0099-2240/02/\$04.00_0 DOI: 10.1128/AEM.68.11.5537–5548.2002Copyright © 2002, American Society for Microbiology.

Ro"ling, F. M. W., Michael, G. M., Martin, J. D., Francesco, F., Fabien, D.,

Richard, J. P. S. and Ian, M.H., (2004). "Bacterial Community Dynamics and Hydrocarbon Degradation during a Field-Scale Evaluation of Bioremediation on a Mudflat Beach Contaminated with Buried Oil." Applied and Environmental Microbiology, May 2004, p. 2603–2613 Vol. 70, No. 50099-2240/04/\$08.00_0 DOI: 10.1128/AEM.70.5.2603–2613.2004 Copyright © 2004, American Society for Microbiology.

Russell, J. B. and Dombrowski, D. B. (1980). Effect of pH on the Efficiency of Growth by Pure Cultures of Rumen Bacteria in Continuous Culture. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, Mar. 1980, p. 604-610 0099-2240/80/030604/07\$02.00/0 Vol. 39, No. 3. Department of Animal Science, University of Illinois, Urbana, Illinois 61801.

Shourian, M., Kambiz, A. N., Hossein, S. Z., Tayebe, B., Gholamreza, K., Monir, M., Iman, R., Solmaz, A., Jamshid, R., Habib, A. (2009). Efficient phenol degradation by a newly characterized*Pseudomonas* sp. SA01 isolated from pharmaceutical Wastewaters. Desalination 246 (2009) 577–594.

Soriano, A. U. and Pereira, N. (1998). Oily sludge Biotreatment. Biochemistry Department of the Federal University of Rio de Janerio.

Sonderkamp, S., Vomberg, A., Schmitz, C., Fabbender, V. (2001). Interaction between bacteria populations during degradation of a lubricant based oil. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, Vol 38, 97-104.

Sugiura, K., Ishihara, M., Shimauchi, T. and Harayama, S. (1997). Physicochemical

properties and biodegradability of crude oil. In:Capelli, S. M., Busalmen, J. P., Sanchez S. R.(2001). Hydrocarbon bioremediation of a mineral-base contaminated waste from crude oil extraction by indigenous bacteria. International Biodeterioration& Biodegradation 47 (2001) 233–238. Accepted 19 March 2001

Thapy, B., Ajay, K. K. C., Anish, G. (2012). A review on bioremediation of petroleum hydrocarbon contaminants in soil. Kathmandu University Journal of Science, Engineering and Technology Vol. 8, no. I, February, 2012, pp 164-170.

Top, E. M. and Springael, D. (2003). The role of mobile genetic elements in bacterial adaptation toxenobiotic organic compounds. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 2003, 14:262–269.

Torstensson, L. (1997). Microbial assays in soils. In: Xu, R. and Obbard, J. P. effects of Nutrients Amendments on Indigenous Hydrocarbon Biodegradation in Oil-Contaminated Beach Sediments. P.1234-1243.

Traxler, R. W. (1973). Bacterial degradation of petroleum materials in low temperaturemarine environments,. In:Atlas, M. R. (1981). Microbial Degradation of Petroleum Hydrocarbons: an Environmental Perspective. Microbiological Reviews, March 1981, p. 180-209 Vol. 45, No. 1 0146-0749/81/010180-30\$02.00/0.

Ukpaka, C. P. (2013). Evaluating the Effect of Conductivity on Crude Oil Degradation In Salt Water Pond. International Journal of Applied Chemical Sciences Research Vol. 1, No. 9, October 2013, PP: 144 - 158, ISSN: 2328-2827 (Online). Available online at http://ijacsr.com.

United States Environmental Protection Agency (2006). Land farming.24 Nov 2006.

Venosa, D. and Zhu, X. (2003). Biodegradation of crude oilcontaminating marine shorelines and freshwater wetlands, Spill Science and Technology Bulletin, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 163–178.

Vin^as, M., Jordi, S., Marı'a, J. E. and Anna, M. S. (2005). Bacterial Community Dynamics and Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon Degradation during Bioremediation of HeavilyCreosote-Contaminated Soil. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, Nov. 2005, p. 7008–7018 Vol. 71, No. 110099- 2240/05/\$08.00_0

doi:10.1128/AEM.71.11.7008–7018.2005.Copyright © 2005, American Society for Microbiology.

Whyte, L. G., Jalal, H., Edward, Z., Luc B., William, E. I., Charles, W. G. (1998).
Biodegradation of Variable-Chain-Length Alkanes at Low Temperatures by a
Psychrotrophic *Rhodococcussp.* Applied and Environmental
Microbiology,00992240/98/\$04.0010. July 1998, p. 2578–2584 Vol. 64, No.
7.Copyright © 1998, American Society for Microbiology.
Walker, J. D. and Colwell, R. R.(1974). Microbial Degradation of Model Petroleum
at Low Temperatures. Author(s): Source: Microbial Ecology, Vol. 1, No. 2 (1974), pp.

63-95Published by: Springer .Accessed: 04/10/2013 09:11.

Weidemeier, T., Swanson, M., Wilson, J., Donald, K., Ross, M., Hansen, J. (1996). Approximation of Biodegradation Rate Constants for Monoaromatic Hydrocarbons (BTEX) in Ground Water.U.S. Environmental ProtectionAgency Papers. Paper 26. http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/usepapapers/26.

Xu, J. (2012). Bioremediation of Crude Oil Contaminated Soil by PetroleumDegrading Active Bacteria. Introduction to Enhanced Oil Recovery (EOR) Processes and Bioremediation of Oil-Contaminated Sites.

Zekri, A. Y. and Chaalal, O. (2005). Effect of Temperature on Biodegradation of Crude Oil. .Energy Sources, 27:233–244, 2005Copyright © Taylor & Francis Inc.ISSN: 0090-8312 print/1521-0510 onlineDOI: 10.1080/00908310490448299.

ZoBell, C. E.(1946). Action of microorganisms on hydrocarbons. In:Atlas, M. R. (1981). Microbial Degradation of Petroleum Hydrocarbons: an Environmental Perspective. Microbiological Reviews, March 1981, p. 180-209 Vol. 45, No. 1 01460749/81/010180-30\$02.00/0.

APPENDICES

Presented below are the tables, charts for the various results generated and pictures of some prominent activities performed in the course of the experimental study.

APPENDIX 1.0 TABLE OF RESULTS FOR MONITORING PARAMETERS

Table 4.5: pH values for 500mg/L oil concentration





i. <u>Table 4.6: Dissolved Oxygen (mg/L) values for 500mg/L oil concentration</u>

Ų	SAMPLE 1			S	SAMPLE 2			SAMPLE 3		
TEMPERATUR E(°C)	BLK A	BL K B	MEA N	BL K A	BL K B	MEA N	BL K A	BL K B	MEA N	
27	0.46	0.90	0.68	0.93	0.86	0.90	1.57	1.56	1.57	
37	0.68	0.72	0.70	0.90	0.85	0.88	0.87	0.93	0.90	
47	1.46	1.40	1.43	0.90	0.83	0.87	0.80	0.86	0.83	
57	1.25	1.31	1.28	1.01	0.98	1.00	0.81	1.07	0.94	

ii. <u>Table 4.7: Conductivity(µS/cm)values for 500mg/L oil concentration</u>

SAMPLE 1 SAMPLE 2 SAMPLE 3

TEMPERATURE (°C)	BLK A	BLK B	MEAN	BLK A	BLK B	MEAN	BLK A	BLK B	MEAN
27	1.12	0.82	0.97	1.27	1.04	1.16	1.43	1.30	1.37
37	0.81	0.81	0.81	1.31	1.15	1.23	1.12	1.12	1.12
47	0.85	0.73	0.79	0.80	0.82	0.81	0.87	0.82	0.84
57	0.65	0.66	0.66	0.66	0.68	0.67	0.69	0.69	0.69

iii. <u>Table 4.8: pH values for 1000mg/L oil concentration</u>

	SAMPLE 1			SAMPLE 2			SAMPLE 3		
TEM <mark>PERATURE</mark> (°C)	BLK A	BLK B	MEAN 	BLK A	BLK B	MEAN	BLK A	BLK B	MEAN
27	6.42	6.37	6.40	6.38	6.44	6.41	6.54	6.74	6.64
37	6.68	6.72	6.70	6.70	6.74	6.72	6.78	6.80	6.79
47	6.80	6.74	6.77	6.78	6.76	6.77	6.77	6.72	6.75
57	6.58	6.64	6.61	6.75	6.84	6.80	6.59	6.64	6.62
	0	100	P		1	- 81			

iv. Table 4.9: Dissolved Oxygen (mg/L) values for 1000mg/L oil concentration

	SAMPLE 1			, L	SAMPLE 2			SAMPLE 3		
TEMPERATURE	BLK	BLK	MEAN	BLK	BLK	MEAN	BLK	BLK	MEAN	
(°C)	A	B		A	B		A	B		

27	1.15 1.21	1.18 1.26	1.32 1.29	1.41	1.38	1.40
37	2.25 2.29	2.27 2.53	2.48 2.51	3.51	3.58	3.55
47	2.28 2.31	2.30 2.38	2.37 2.38	2.50	2.47	2.49
57	3.18 3.21	3.20 3.43	3.39 3.41	3.15	3.20	3.18

Table 4.10: Conductivity(µS/cm)values for 1000mg/L oil concentration



KNUST

APPENDIX 2.0 MICROBIAL EMUMERATION RESULTS

I. <u>Table 4.11: Microbial numbers for 500mg/L oil concentration</u> DILUTIONS

SAMPLES	TEMPERATURE (⁰ C)	10-10	10-11	10-12	10-13	10-14	MICROBIAL NUMBERS (CFU/ml)
SAMPLE 1	27	145	99	68	53	23	3.11E-08
SAMPLE 2	27	172		84	79	38	3.68E-08
SAMPLE 3	27	260	228	168	116	120	2.12E-08
SAMPLE 1	37	97	82	63	49	22	2.70E-08
SAMPLE 2	37 W	124	102	88	61	35	
SAMPLE 3	37	191	172	166	146	92	4.20E-08
							4.28E-08
SAMPLE 1	47	204	92	56	26	11	

							4.72E-08
SAMPLE 2	47	216	192	76	19	13	
							8.21E-08
SAMPLE 3	47	372	356	292	140	79	
		$I \ge N$	TT	1	C-	Π.	4 120 09
SAMPLE 1	57	192	132	68	83	52	4.12E-08
				_	~		2.59E-08
SAMPLE 2	57	120	89	61	52	28	
			0	1			9.21E-09
SAMPLE 3	57	42	37	33	21	15	
SAMPLE 3	57	42	37	33	21	15	9.21E-09

II. <u>Table 4.12: Microbial numbers for 1000mg/L oil concentration</u>									
SAMPLE S	TEMPERATUR E(⁰ C)	10-10	10-11	10-12	10-13	10-14	MICROBIAL NUMBERS (CFU/ml)		
SAMPLE	27	109	93	79	61	48	2.38E-08		
SAMPLE 2	27	248	192	96	78	71	5.36E-08		
SAMPLE 3	27	356	248	144	192	80	7.65E-08		
SAMPLE 1	37	126	102	89	63	48	2.74E-08		

SAMPLE 2	37	202	187	145	104	91	4.45E-08
SAMPLE 3	37	368	332	284	260	172	8.09E-08
SAMPLE 1	47	120	98	85	51	43	2.61E-08
SAMPLE 2	47	252	216	196	144	85	5.51E-08
SAMPLE 3	47	356	272	212	103	91	7.71E-08
SAMPLE 1	57	248	200	128	97	81	5.39E-08
SAMPLE 2	57	197	176	153	109	91	4.32E-08
SAMPLE 3	57	120	107	91	78	59	2.63E-08

DILUTIONS

APPENDIX 3.0 TABLE OF RESULTS FOR PERCENTAGE DIFEERENCE

INMICROBIAL NUMBERS

Table 4.13: results for percentage difference in microbial numbers										
CONCENTRATION	TEMPERATURE	INITIAL	FINAL	%						
(mg/l)	(⁰ C)	MICROBIAL	MICROBIAL	DIFFERENCE						
		COUNT	COUNT	IN						
		(CFU/ml)	(CFU/ml)	MICROBIAL						
				NUMBERS						

500	27	3.11E-08	5.69E-08	45.32
500	37	2.12E-08	4.2E-08	49.58
500	47	4.28E-08	8.21E-08	47.94
500	57	4.12E-08	9.21E-09	-77.64
1000	27	2.38E-08	7.65E-08	68.84
1000	37	2.74E-08	8.09E-08	66.08
1000	47	2.16E-08	7.71E-08	71.98
1000	57	5.39E-08	2.63E-08	-51.11

APPENDIX 4.0<u>TABLE OF RESULTS FOR THE TURBIDITY OF LIQUID</u> <u>CULTURES (INOCULUM)</u>

Table 4.14: results for turbidity of liquid cultures

DATE	CONCENTRATION (mg/L)	TURBIDITY (FTU)
1	(119,2)	0
	SANE	
23/01/2014	500	97
24/01/2014	500	123
25/01/2014	500	198



APPENDIX 5.0TABLE OF RESULTS TOTAL PETROLEUM HYDROCARBON

Table 4.15: results	for total petroleum hyd	rocarbon		
		Total Petroleum	Hydrocarbon	
TEMPERATURE	CONCENTRATION	(TPI	(H)	DEGRADATION
(⁰ C)	(mg/L)	CONTROL	SAMPLE	%
13			A A	9
1	es es	<	An	
27	500	3159.26	930.241	70 56
27	500	5159.20	200.211	10.50
37	500	3159.26	326.513	89.66
47	500	3159.26	208 514	93 40
17	500	5157.20	200.511	23.10
57	500	3159.26	1404.19	55.55

27	1000	3522.358	303.627	91.38
37	1000	3522.358	122.444	96.52
47	1000	3522.358	60.098	98.29
57	1000	3522.358	371.054	89.47
	Kľ	UV.	5	



APPENDIX 6.0 ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE

 Table 4.16: Single Factor Anova for Degradation with respect to temperature at various
 concentrations

SUMMARY

Z	Groups	Count	Sum	Average	V <mark>ariance</mark>
131	27°C	1	0.705551	0.705551	0.00 0.00
CONCENTRATION	37°C	1	0.896649	0.896649	0.00
1 (500mg/L)	47°C	1	0.933999	0.933999	/
	57°C	1	0.555532	0.555532	0.00
	27°C	SA	0.9138	0.9138	0.00 0.00
CONCENTRATION	37°C	1	0.965238	0.965238	0.00
2 (1000mg/L)	47°C	1	0.982938	0.982938	
	57°C	1	0.894657	0.894657	0.00

ANOVA

SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
0.153534	7	0.021933	65535	0.00	0.00
0	0	65535			
0.153534	7		<u>ат</u>	0	
	<i>SS</i> 0.153534 0 0.153534	SS df 0.153534 7 0 0 0.153534 7	SS df MS 0.153534 7 0.021933 0 0 65535 0.153534 7	SS df MS F 0.153534 7 0.021933 65535 0 0 0 65535 0 0.153534 7 7 0.021933 65535	SS df MS F P-value 0.153534 7 0.021933 65535 0.00 0 0 65535 0.00 0.153534 7 7 0.153534

Table 4.17: Single Factor Anova for Degradation with respect to concentrations atvarious temperatures

SUMMARY

	Groups	Count	Sum	Average	Varian	се
	27°C	1	0.705551	0.705551	0.00 0.	00
CONCENTRATION	37°C	1	0.896649	0.896649	0.00	
1 (500mg/L)	47°C	1	0.933999	0.933999		
ko de	57°C	1	0.555532	0.555532	0.00	
	27°C	1	0.9138	0.9138	0.00 0.	00
CONCENTRATION	37°C	1	0.965238	0.965238	0.00	1
2 (1000mg/L)	47°C	1	0.982938	0.982938	1	2
	57°C	1	0.894657	0.894657	0.00	
ANOVA	Pa	-		SP-		
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F P	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	0.153534	7	0.021933	65535	0.00	0.00
Within Groups	0	0	65 <mark>5</mark> 35		13	5/
Total	0.153534	7	91	5/	SE)	
30				5		

Table 4.20: Two Factor Anova for conductivity with respect to Degradation							
	SUMMARY	Count	Sum	Average	Variance	sd	
	27°C	3	3491	1163.667	39143.58	197.85	
CONCENTRATION	37°C	3	3163	1054.333	47910.08	218.88	
(500mg/L)	47°C	3	2444	814.6667	761.5833	27.6	
	57°C	3	2013.5	671.1667	293.5833	17.13	

SANE

	27°C	3	1286.5	428.8333	2599.083	50.98
CONCENTRATION	37°C	3	991.5	330.5	33.25	5.77
(1000mg/L)	47°C	3	1343.5	447.8333	82.33333	9.07
	57°C	3	1360	453.3333	42.58333	6.53
	SAMPLE 1	8	4901	612.625	51175.2	226.22
	SAMPLE 2	8	5563	695.375	117669.4	343.03
	SAMPLE 3	8	5629	703.625	143643.8	379
					_	
		× I.	AC	\mathcal{I}		

ANOVA

Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Rows	2046211	7	292315.9	28.98155	2.73E-07 2	.764199
Columns	40524.33	2	20262.17	2.008885	0.170997 3	.738892
Error	141207.8	14	10086.27			
			16			
Total	2227943	23				
		-	-	24	1	

Table 4.18: Two Factor Anova for pH with respect to Degradation								
1.1	SUMMARY	Count (Sum	Average	Variance	sd		
	27°C	3	19.445	6.481667	0.012308	0.11		
CONCENTRATION	37°C	3	19.97	6.656667	0.092808	0.3		
(500mg/L)	47°C	3	20.37	6.79	0.047475	0.22		
	57°C	3	19.945	6.648333	0.029358	0.17		
13	27°C	3	19.445	6.481667	0.018858	0.14		
CONCENTRATION	37°C	3	20.21	6.736667	0.002233	0.05		
(1000mg/L)	47°C	3	20.285	6.761667	0.000208	0.01		
	57°C	3	20.02	6.673333	0.011108	0.11		
	SAMPLE 1	8	53.05	6.63125	0.052955	0.23		
	SAMPLE2	8	53.545	6.693125	0.017457	0.13		
	SAMPLE3	8	53.095	6.636875	0.029614	0.17		
ANOVA								
Source of	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit			

	SS		
Variation			
The second second	0.000106.7		0.054110.0.544100
Treatments	0.2901967	0.041457 1.41564	0.274119 2.764199
Samples	0.018731 2	0.009366 0.31981	3 0.731453 3.738892
Error/Residuals	0.409985 14	0.029285	
Total	0.718913 23		CT
		NIVU	SI

Table 4.19:	: Two Factor	Anova for	Dissolved	Oxygen with	respect to	Degradation
						0

	SUMMARY	Count 2	Sum	Average	Variance	sd
CONCENTRATION (500mg/L)	27°C 37°C 47°C	33 3	3.14	1.046667	0.21 <mark>305</mark> 8	0.46
			2.475	0.825	0.011875	0.11
			3.125	1.041667	0.113408	0.34
	57°C	3	3.215	1.071667	0.033308	0.18
	27°C	3	3.865	1.288333	0.011558	0.11
CONCENTRATION (1000mg/L)	37°C	3	8.32	2.773333	0.460408	0.68
	47°C	3	7.155	2.385	0.0091	0.1
	57°C	3	9.78	3.26	0.016975	0.13

SAMPLE 1	8	13.03	1.62875	0.776205	0.88
SAMPLE 2	8	13.21	1.65125	0.957105	0.98
SAMPLE 3	8	14.835	1.854375	1.155853	1.08

ANOVA			
Source of	22	df	MS E Produce E crit
Variation	60	uj	
Treatments	18.73189	7	2.675984 25.10546 6.82E-07 2.764199
Samples	0.247127	2	0.123564 1.159244 0.342087 3.738892
Error/Residuals	1.492256	14	0.10659
			- In
Total	20.47127	23	

Table 4.21: Two	o Factor Anova	ı <mark>for Microb</mark> ia	l Density with	respect to	Degradation
-----------------	----------------	------------------------------	----------------	------------	-------------

SUMMARY	Count	Sum	Average	Variance	sd
27°C	2	8.8E-08	4.4E-08	3.33E-16	1.8E-08
37°C	2	5.53E-08	2.76E-08	8.33E-17	9E-09
47°C	2	1.25E-07	6.24E-08	7.75E-16	2.8E-08
57°C	2	5.04E-08	2.52E-08	5.11E-16	2.3E-08
27°C	2	1E-07	5.02E-08	1.39E-15	3.7E-08
37°C	2	1.08E-07	5.41E-08	1.43E-15	3.8E-08
47°C	2	9.87E-08	4.93E-08	1.54E-15	3.9E-08
57°C	2	8.02E-08	4.01E-08	3.79E-16	1.9E-08

I					
INITIAL	8	2.63E-07	3.29E-08	1.41E-16	1.2E-08
FINAL	8	4.43E-07	5.54E-08	8.16E-16	2.9E-08

ANOVA Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Treatments	2.29E-15	7	3.27E- 16	0.520089	0.796055	3.787044
Time	2.03E-15	1	2.03E- 15	3.221112	0.115771	5.591448
Error/Residuals	4.41E-15	7	6.3E-16			
Total	8.73E-15	15	0	1		

APPENDIX 7.0 CHARTS SHOWING THE CORRELATION BETWEEN

MONITORED PARAMETERS

Parameters	Concentra tion	Temperat ure	РН	Conductivi ty	DO	ТРН	% Degradati on	Change in Microbial Population	Final Microbial Population
		5	X	5	1.0	S	3		-
Concentratio			Geo.		1				
n	1		111	1					
Temperature	0.9	1		- 2.2					
-			1					_	
рН	0.62	0.66	1		<			131	
	E		2		2	1	/	Z/	
Conductivity	-0.86	-1	-0.73	1			1	~	
	1	22	2		1	5	RA		
DO	0.64	0.91	0.67	-0.95	1	6	5		
			~	SAN		-			
ТРН	0.27	0.61	-0.03	-0.59	0.73	1			
%									
Degradation	-0.16	-0.27	0.55	0.19	-0.2	-0.77	1		
Final									
Microbial									
Population	-0.3	-0.61	0.08	0.58	-0.7	-1	0.81	0.96	1

 Table 4.2: Correlation between the parameters under study



Figure 4.11: Correlation profile for temperature (°C) and Conductivity (µs/cm)



Figure 4.12: Correlation profile for temperature (°C) and Dissolve Oxygen (mg/L)



Figure 4.13: Correlation profile for temperature (°C) and Final Microbial Numbers (CFU/ml)



Figure 4.14: Correlation profile for pH and Conductivity (µs/cm)



Figure 4.16: Correlation profile for pH and Final Microbial Numbers (CFU/ml)



Figure 4.17: Correlation profile for Conductivity (µs/cm) and Dissolve Oxygen (mg/L)



Figure 4.18: Correlation profile for Conductivity (µs/cm)and Final Microbial Numbers (CFU/ml)



Figure 4.19: Correlation profile for Dissolved Oxygen (mg/L) and Final Microbial Numbers (CFU/ml)

BAD

APPENDIX 8.0 PICTURES OF THE EXPERIMENT



Plate 3.2: Bamboo chips used Plate 3.3: Packed Immobilizing Materials



NO

Plate 3.4: Bioreactor Set Up

WJSANE



Plate 3.5: Bioreactor set up Plate 3.6: Coiled tubes around the pvc pipes



Plate 3.7: Prepared PCA for Microbial Enumeration



Plate 3.7: Coliforms on Petri Dishes after Incubation



Plate 3.9: Oil Extraction Set Up

APPENDIX 9.0 GAS CHROMATOGRAPHY (GC) RESULTS